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Global presence
Aliaxis is a global leader in advanced plastic piping 
systems for building, infrastructure, industrial and 
agriculture applications. The company provides com-
munities around the world with sustainable innovative 
solutions for water and energy, leading the industry 
in a way that anticipates the rapidly evolving needs 
of its customers and of society. With a global work-
force of about 16,100 employees, Aliaxis offers specific 
solutions that meet our customers’ most demanding 
needs across the globe. Aliaxis is active through 
leading local brands and operates in over 45 coun-
tries, combining local solutions with global innovation 
and operational excellence. The company is present 
on every continent, with its global headquarters in 
Brussels, Belgium.

Our businesses
laten staan voor headers
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Americas
The 2018 strategy for North America 
focused on customer intimacy and 
growth through innovation in order to 
gain market share. The North American 
region, including Canada and the USA, 
delivered a strong performance with 
an upsurge in sales across the region. 
In Latin America, a region faced with 
limited economic growth, the team 
focused on differentiating products and 
services with a reduced dependence on 
traditional products. The region saw very 
challenging market conditions, coupled 
with aggressive competition which 
made it difficult to deliver ambitious 
growth goals.

Market overview

In 2018, market conditions in North, Central and 
South America differed according to region and 
segment. In the USA, market conditions were gen-
erally supportive of growth initiatives across most of 
the division’s major trading sectors. Positive economic 
trends in America such as GDP, business investment, 
consumer confidence, and the unemployment rate 
positively influenced construction activity for the 
year. Average sales and gross margin with the top ten 
customers increased. 

The Canadian economy experienced a slower 
growth path with a GDP forecast of 2.1%, compared 
with 3.0% in 2017. This decline caused uncertainty in 
many markets resulting in a cooling housing market 
with tougher lending rules. The construction markets 
maintained a solid momentum in the first half of 
2018, but the pace of growth slowed for the second 
half of the year against very strong comparatives. 
The housing market was approximately 3% lower than 

2017, and the key single-family market was down 15% 
according to CMHC (Canadian Housing Mortgage 
Corporation) definitions. 

In Central America, the entire region was affected 
by economic, political and social problems which 
caused a decrease in demand. This lower demand 
left an excess of installed production capacity that 
provoked strong pressure on prices. Some local com-
petitors targeted neighbouring countries to increase 
their selling volume for extrusion and injection plants, 
in turn, affecting prices even further. 

The market in Latin America started 2018 with a 
favourable forecast, particularly in the Infrastructure 
& Mining segments. While Q1 began with positive 
growth of 3-4% GDP, as the year progressed, the 
market began to show signs of deterioration, espe-
cially in construction development. This decline began 
to impact demand from final customers. Less market 
demand had an undesirable effect on contribution 
margins and made it hard to maintain sales volume in 
different channels and customers. The strengthening 
US dollar caused local currency devaluation affecting 
the costs of imported materials. 

Health and safety

Aligned with the global group objectives, the division 
focused on Best Practices standardization to promote 
cross-fertilisation between North and Latin America. 
This focus will help to reduce safety risks and injuries 
and support Going For Zero. 

The Patterson plant, an injection moulding facility 
with approximately 160 employees in Canada, North 
America, implemented a programme to report unsafe 
conditions and provides a successful example of this 
initiative. The first results of the project clearly demon-
strated the importance of reporting in order to reduce 
unsafe acts and conditions and prevent injuries to 
employees. This programme will be shared among the 
other North American plants and distribution centres. 

In 2018 the sites and plants in Latin America also 
focused on risk identification in all processes, and 
promoted full reporting of events, including near 
misses. A Machine Guarding project with safety level 
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4 was implemented. The division also initiated Health 
and Safety awareness at non-operation areas in 
Latin America. 

Focus on winning together 
with customers
Maintaining and improving customer intimacy is one 
of the highest priorities for the Americas division. 
The objective is to offer the most extensive sales 
coverage in the industry, thus providing the ability to 
maintain relationships with all industry stakeholders 
including engineers, specifiers, contractors, end users 
and distributors. 

In markets such as Peru in Latin America, where Aliaxis 
holds an enviable market position with a relatively 
traditional product offering, the team partners with 
key distributors and helps them to grow by provid-
ing training for personnel and customers, marketing 
materials, market intelligence and technical support. 
These added benefits, in turn, generate demand. 
In parallel, the division in Latin America is gradually 
developing a network of specialized distributors, 
including those catering to the industrial market. 
This network enhances the sales force in those seg-
ments and helps bridge the gap between manufac-
turer and contractor.

To improve overall customer experience in the USA, the 
team embarked upon a distribution network optimi-
sation project, which continued in 2018. This project 
resulted in the opening and relocation of additional 
distribution centres, allowing for improved fill rates and 
on-time deliveries. North America continued to invest 
in Product Information Management (PIM) in order to 
support the customers’ digital strategies by providing 
one source of accurate and enriched product data. 
The division also worked closely with OEM customers 
using 3D printing and rapid prototyping technology to 
accelerate time to market for their new products and 
end-user solutions.

Driving innovation

The customer intimacy strategy also helps to drive 
innovation. The division further invested in cus-
tomer insight and ideation activities with a signif-
icant number of customers across North America. 
The objective was to fill the innovation pipeline with 
customer driven product ideas, systems and solutions 
in order to improve productivity and solve real world 
problems. The division’s investment in innovation and 
new products resulted in a record number of new 
product launches in 2018, including, for example the 
IPEX Vortex Force unit, a specially designed aeration 
device that draws in and powerfully mixes air into 
sewage flow, leading to a better downstream flow. 

In Latin America, the innovation team improved cus-
tomer contact and understanding in its innovation 
process using focus groups and one-on-one Voice of 
Customer (VOC) contacts. This direct contact yielded 
discoveries that were translated into clearly defined 
product attributes for design. Two examples are: 
High Flow Rain Channels, the development of a rain 
channel that manages larger volumes of rain; and the 
Electrical Box for Concrete Block, an improved electri-
cal device box that can be designed for the benefit 
of electricians.

Accelerating operational 
excellence
In 2018, implementing Key Performance Indicators 
(KPI’s) to measure ‘on time delivery’ and ‘customer 
fill rate’ proactively was a focus in North America. 
In addition, the team identified a capacity shortfall 
with the 2”-4” small diameter pipe. The performance of 
these specific lines was monitored to minimize the gap 
between customer demand and product availability. 
Exercising caution in accepting orders that could not 
be delivered ultimately benefited the customers.

In the changing and challenging market environment 
of Latin America, the division reinvented supply-chain 
processes to create value for customers. The capa-
bilities that were built during past years generated 
sustainable improvements in service levels, achieving 
far better 2018 results in OTIF (On Time In Full) across 
the region, while improving operational excellence, 
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reducing inventories and achieving transportation 
savings. The consolidation of the Central Regional 
Planning office and an increased maturity of the Sales 
& Operations Planning process benefited clients in the 
whole region. 

Cross-fertilisation

The concept of cross-functional team members 
working as a unit is standard practice for Innovation 
projects in Latin America. Cross-functional teams are 
used to develop business justifications and plans when 
a change to existing products is requested. In 2018, 
product designers in North and Latin America met for 
the first time to share work practices, experiences and 
knowledge. In North America, it is standard practice 
for the Product Design team to hold a design review 
meeting which provides a review before a design is 
finalized. Going forward, this validating process and 
product design collaboration will be incorporated as 
standard practice in Latin America. 

As the result of a collaboration between Aliaxis 
teams in North America and Europe, in July 2018, 
IPEX launched the Friastop Electrofusion Couplings 
with Integral Excess Flow Valve (EFV). This product is 
manufactured by Friatec in partnership with Mertek 
and was available in Europe, although only in metric 
units. Due to regular and ongoing contact with 
Friatec, the US National Sales Manager for Municipal 
(Infrastructure) products, foresaw the opportunity 
to adapt this product to meet the needs of the US 
market. The teams in North America and Europe 
worked together to create an imperial sized product 
and have it certified to the North American standards. 

Helping the community

The division is committed to helping local communities 
by supporting projects related to our core activities 
which generates a win-win for the community and the 
Aliaxis business. 

In North America, the division participates in trade 
school scholarships. This partnership allows students 
to become aware of career opportunities in our sector 
and helps to build the brand through corporate name 

recognition via visually dominant signage on campus. 
In addition, IPEX is a member of Electro-Federation 
Canada (EFC) and supported in the annual scholar-
ship fund award. This scholarship is open to the public 
and is promoted within the electrical industry. It is one 
of the largest scholarship programmes in Canada. 
IPEX chose to participate in the EFC scholarship 
programme because it supports students studying in 
electrical programmes and in turn, informs students 
in business, logistics, and finance programmes about 
the company. 

In Latin America, the division supports several projects, 
including the Selavip Foundation. By making drink-
ing water accessible in difficult regions, the Selavip 
Foundation helps to make “life flow” for all people 
on this planet by allowing children to go to school 
instead of walking miles for clean water. In La Palma, El 
Salvador, the organization supported the construction 
of a drinking water self-supply system for 62 families. 
And in Chile, Selavip supported a project to install 
individual sewer systems for 19 families. 

Creating our best place to work

In 2018, the team in North America focused on three 
key HR initiatives: people development, cultural trans-
formation and the “Employer of the Year” nomination. 
The year began with the development of Aliaxis 
Values in regional training workshops across the divi-
sion. Throughout the year, employee engagement 
and retention were promoted through the cultural 
transformation journey. Additionally, in preparation for 
and in support of the Aliaxis Leadership Development 
Journey, IPEX trained all HR professionals in admin-
istering pre-employment and global development 
assessment tools. 

In Latin America, 2018 initiatives included an engage-
ment survey and various training programmes, with 
eLearning (Product courses, Leadership and Customer 
Service programmes) as well as classroom training for 
Safety, Technical training and Soft Skills. Several pro-
grammes were developed, including Development 
plans for Directors and Country Managers, Sales Force 
Evaluation and a Mobility Programme: 10 employees 
were promoted to other countries within the region.
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APAC
In 2018, the focus of the APAC division 
was on developing growth plans in line 
with the business strategy, taking into 
account specific regional market con-
ditions. In Australia, New Zealand and 
South-East Asia, the aim was to improve 
performance and create growth oppor-
tunities with a turnaround approach, 
specifically in South-East Asia. In India, 
the acquisition of the remaining minority 
stake in Ashirvad and successful integra-
tion of the company into Aliaxis was one 
of the main highlights of 2018. The official 
inauguration of a new plant in the North 
also extended Ashirvad’s presence. 

Market overview

Overall, the market situation in Australia and New 
Zealand has led to satisfying results for the division. 
The coal seam gas industry in Australia performed 
reasonably well in 2018. However, a significant rise 
in resin prices, especially for polyethylene, has led to 
higher costs in Australia and New Zealand and that 
trend has undermined our activities in these highly 
competitive markets. Efficiency and business per-
formance have been improved by introducing some 
organisational changes. At the same time, there was 
a significant buoyancy in the agricultural market 
segment, which resulted in a sales boost and allowed 
the team to recover some of the raw material cost 
increases through posting good results. 

In South-East Asia, the Singapore market has been 
bottoming out, while in Malaysia the market continued 
to grow. A review of the current performance in South-
East Asia showed the need to refocus on higher-end 
market segments in rainwater management and 
high-rise buildings. 

Meanwhile, the Indian market continued to accelerate 
in 2018 with GDP growth rates among the highest in 
the world. Investments in the building segment con-
tinued, resulting in good sales of CPVC products. Yet, 
compared with an extraordinary 2017, the agriculture 
segment in South India faced more difficult market 
conditions. The transition to the new management 
team in India after acquiring the remaining stake 
in Ashirvad went as planned, without any business 
impact. The post-acquisition strategy has been 
implemented successfully and the organisation is now 
ready to pursue new opportunities in the industrial and 
infrastructure segment, in addition to capturing the 
continued growth momentum in its core markets. 

Health and safety

Teams across the APAC division have embarked on a 
journey to build an improved and common health and 
safety culture in line with the company’s global strat-
egy and designed to accelerate the division’s health 
and safety performance. In both India and South-East 
Asia, good progress has been made in terms of key 
risk evaluation, based on both internal and partially 
external reviews. Following key risk evaluation, several 
improvement initiatives were launched, and the APAC 
divisional teams have successfully cooperated to 
implement them.

Across the division, the aim is to shift from a culture 
of looking only at performance indicators (lagging 
indicators) to the adoption of a proactive approach 
that uses leading indicators to identify unsafe situ-
ations and suitable key initiatives for improving our 
safety performance. 

In India, for example, the new management team has 
now articulated its health and safety objectives for the 
future. One of the priorities for manufacturing sites is 
the identification of unsafe acts and the enforcement 
of behavioural safety in the workplace.  This presents 
a challenge in a macro environment where there 
are low levels of awareness and diligence. This past 
year, the team has taken the first steps in creating a 
common culture throughout all manufacturing sites, 
implementing health and safety training, and building 
up certification processes. The Ashirvad plant in Jigani, 
for example, has started to implement the Aliaxis 
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“Global Health and Safety Standard on Forklifts” and 
took a range of measures to keep people away from 
mobile equipment. 

In Australia, the first module of Safe by Choice, the 
new global solution for operational line managers, 
has been successfully piloted. Safe by Choice is a 
programme designed with only one goal: to drive 
a common culture whereby everyone must follow 
all safety procedures and contribute to an environ-
ment that demands workplace safety. The Philmac 
team in Australia also implemented several initia-
tives around mental health assistance, like first aid 
training applicable to mental health, and provision 
of practical support, including free professional 
health checks, an Employee Assistance Programme 
and a rapid response onsite counselling service for 
emergency events. 

In New Zealand in addition to the global initiatives, 
activities focused on wellbeing were implemented.

The Health and Safety team in South-East Asia is now 
fully embedded in the regional set up, allowing for fact 
knowledge transfer and aligned plans to improve H&S 
across the board. This provides a more mature foun-
dation for continued improvement.

Focus on winning together 
with customers
Throughout the whole APAC division, the goal is to 
create long-term partnerships and win-win relation-
ships with customers and distributors. 

For India, one of the highlights of this past year was 
a national sales event in Goa, India, where the team 
invited distributors as well as the national sales 
force to witness the Aliaxis global product portfolio 
through a detailed exhibition setup. The gathering 
also allowed us to convey Aliaxis’ ambitions in India. 
The event proved to be a good example of connect-
ing with our customers by showing them opportunities 
for growth and future collaboration. In New Zealand, 
the Arma conduit launch saw first mover advantage 
with key electrical distributors.

In Australia, the Vinidex team worked with one of the 
world’s largest gold mining companies, to make the 
operations in their gold mine in Papua New Guinea 
safer and ensure their compliance with the interna-
tional Cyanide Management Code for the manufac-
ture, transport and use of cyanide in the gold mining 
industry. Vinidex was able to offer this customer safe 
a long-term solution for their cyanide lines. The cus-
tomer is now looking at different Aliaxis products for 
further projects at this gold mine and their other mines 
around the world. 

Innovation

Over this past year APAC has been focusing on 
improving the organisation to increase innovation and 
R&D activities throughout the division. Several projects 
were launched in India to digitise the plumber experi-
ence and forge connections with the dealer network. 
The team has begun implementing artificial intelli-
gence and big data in some projects to improve sales 
performance. The idea is to build a local R&D team to 
address the specific needs of the Indian market. 

A good example of product innovation has been 
developed by the team in Marley, New Zealand. 
They won the first prize on the Aliaxis Global 
Innovation Awards with the Curve, a new area leaf 
diverter that helps to improve water quality and 
reduce system maintenance by delivering cleaner 
water to the water tank or storm water system. It also 
reduces the chance of drains becoming blocked in 
stormy weather. In addition, the Marley Twist won 
the 2018 New Zealand Plumbing Awards Product of 
the Year. The Twist is an innovative rain harvesting 
product that leverages the global trend of water 
scarcity and supports sales of Aliaxis’ core range of 
rainwater systems.

In South-East Asia, we have been working on extending 
our portfolio in rainwater management, focusing on, 
among other things, the specific challenges for high-
rise buildings and the solutions that Aliaxis provides.
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Operational excellence

To face future challenges and pursue anticipated 
growth opportunities in the next few years, the division 
has been analysing its operational activities and has 
identified several areas where supply chain, manufac-
turing footprint and other processes will be improved. 

Australasia has experienced a considerable impact 
from its operational excellence programmes. To opti-
mise the manufacturing footprint and gain production 
efficiency, the division consolidated its production sites 
on the South Island of New Zealand and merged its 
manufacturing sites in Ashburton and Christchurch, 
Australia. Secondly, the transformation project in 
Australia has seen significant efficiencies achieved in 
manufacturing in the areas of reduced scrap gener-
ation and target weight achievement through robust 
process improvement.

In India, the team expanded its manufacturing 
footprint in the North of the country. By opening a 
new plant in Bhiwadi, the company is now better 
positioned to serve its customers in other Indian 
regions and benefits from the time and cost savings 
in terms of transport costs and inventory. Just one 
year after the inauguration of the new site, the entire 
capacity of phase one has already been con-
sumed, hence the construction of phase two has 
already started. The plant is delivering good results, 
with large-scale dispatches and good numbers on 
operational efficiency. 

Cross-fertilisation

In New Zealand, close collaboration between Marley 
and Akatherm has seen success in the Christchurch 
city rebuild (post-earthquakes). The most recent 
project was the Akatherm syphonic drainage system 
that was used for the new central library, one of the 
key rebuild projects. The design service and techni-
cal support were provided by Marley New Zealand 
to support specifiers and contractors. It was also a 
joint approach between Aliaxis and the distributors to 
secure the project against other competitors. 

The project for the gold mine in Papua New Guinea 
was also an example of cross-fertilisation between the 
Vinidex team in Australia and their IPEX colleagues in 
North America. IPEX provided the Guardian System 
pipings and fittings and jointly designed and man-
ufactured new elements specifically for this project, 
in close collaboration with Vinidex. The low mainte-
nance cost of the Guardian System and the reduced 
need for inspections will help this large gold mining 
company to lower its operating costs. 

Late last year, there was also an opportunity identified 
by Marley New Zealand and Vinidex Australia to sell 
PVC-M and PVC-O pipes manufactured by Vinidex 
into New Zealand for a Marley customer contract. 
The biggest hurdle was how to do this effectively due 
to the high logistics costs for transporting the product 
to New Zealand. The idea was to use high cube 
rear-door containers for transportation, so a large 
number of lengths of 375mm pipes was loaded into 
10 containers at the Coopers Plains site in Australia. 
All containers were successfully shipped off to Marley 
New Zealand and with the product intact.

Helping the community

A good example of giving back to the local com-
munity is the Ashirvad Plumbing School in India. 
The school offers a Basic Plumber Course of 
2.5 months to help overcome the high unemploy-
ment and school dropout rates in the region. The first 
students graduated this past year and all either 
accepted a contract with one of the leading Indian 
construction firms or decided to become independent 
plumbing contractors. At the same time, this initiative 
helps to promote the business in the region, as all stu-
dents become brand ambassadors or future clients. 
Due to its large considerable success, Ashirvad started 
the construction of a second Plumbing School in the 
North, next to the company’s new manufacturing site 
in Bhiwadi. This second plumbing school will open its 
doors in the first half of 2019. 

The Australian Vinidex team attended the Think 
Water Conference this past year, which was held in 
Fiji. Over 50 Think Water members, partners, kids and 
suppliers worked at two local schools to provide better 
services. Vinidex, together with Philmac and Marley 
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NZ, donated pipe, fittings, guttering and water tanks. 
Two Vinidex employees also helped at Ratu Illiasi in Fiji, 
a school with 110 students, making improvements to 
provide fresh drinking water to the children and more 
reliable services to their toilet block. 

Creating our best place to work

This past year marked some organisational changes 
throughout the division, with the transition to the new 
management team of Ashirvad as one of the main 
highlights. The team has been outlining its vision and 
started to implement the new culture of being closer 
to all people in the organisation, across all functions. 
While the transition process was being rolled out, the 
main organisational milestones were achieved during 
this past year. 

In South-East Asia and Australia, people changes 
have been made to improve business performance, 
resulting in new management teams in several sites.
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EMEA
The year 2018 was a year of integration 
with a view to generating economies 
of scale, improving costs and creating 
opportunities for growth for the division. 
Most of the activities were focused on 
aligning and strengthening the product 
portfolios and creating a strong divi-
sional organisation.  

Market overview

Within the EMEA division, considerable variation could 
be seen in the market conditions between different 
regions. The year started with very favourable market 
conditions in Europe. The division was able to sell large 
volumes in January and February. In March however, 
Europe was hit by a cold front coming from the East 
and affecting the whole region. Germany, the UK, but 
also France and even Spain were covered with snow. 
This cold front negatively impacted sales in March 
and April. Recovery in May was unfortunately not 
as fast as expected, although sales did recover to 
some degree. After the summer holidays, the markets 
in Europe started to slow down, driven by a series of 
factors: changes in tax rules in a couple of EU coun-
tries, and rises in interest rates and tariffs being placed 
on European products in the USA. 

In North Africa, market conditions strongly supported 
a sales boost, for example in Morocco, and secure our 
position in the region. 

The division also performed well in the Middle East. 
However, the market was affected by some legisla-
tive changes speedily introduced by the new Saudi 
Government. A new law addressing all devices that 
supply or conduct water brought with it a new cer-
tification process for all imports. This new law was 
implemented so fast that there wasn’t enough time to 
train people to certify the new approach. This halted 
the division’s exports to Saudi Arabia until the situation 
was resolved at the end of September. 

Health and safety

As a fundamental part of the Aliaxis core values, 
Health and Safety is high on the EMEA division’s 
agenda. All operational sites start with a daily 
5-minute safety brief at the beginning of each shift, 
to ensure all employees have accurate safety infor-
mation. To ensure proper monitoring of the safety 
situation, operations leaders carried out over 24,000 
“safe conditions and behaviour audits” in 2018. Finally, 
Safe Operating Procedures (SOP’s) have been written 
and training has occurred at all operational sites in 
the division. 

Some sites started specific projects in 2018 to guar-
antee the safety of their employees. The FIP sites in 
Italy and Akatherm in the Netherlands for example, 
have removed forklift trucks from large sections of their 
injection halls to avoid interference between pedes-
trians and forklift trucks. 

In France and Poland, the GIRPI and Nicoll sites put 
in place many actions to create awareness about 
safety risks and implement a shift in behaviour. GIRPI, 
for example, organised a Safety Drawing Competition 
for the children of their employees. The objective was 
to encourage employees to think about safety and to 
discuss this subject with their family. They explained 
their professional activity to their children, who after-
wards made a drawing of the job of their mom or dad. 
In Nicoll Poland, the team held a photo competition in 
order to build a safety culture. Employees were asked 
to think about which threats they face in their working 
space and to organise a photoshoot with friends and 
family. In the photos, they had to reflect on the risks 
and how to reduce them, in line with the Health and 
Safety policy and rules for safe behaviour. 

Focus on winning together 
with customers
In line with the global Aliaxis objectives, the EMEA divi-
sion focused intently on creating a win-win relation-
ship with distributors and being in close contact with 
the end-users of our products: plumbers and installers. 
In 2018, the division worked hard on strengthening 
the relationships with suppliers, distributors, end 
clients and also with designers and contractors of 
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large projects. This past year, representatives of 
EMEA had face-to-face meetings with a number of 
key customers and suppliers in France, Germany, the 
UK and Spain. The objective was to create a deep 
understanding of their way of working and specific 
needs and to generate a collaborative relationship 
with these clients.

A good example of collaborating with customers to 
create a win-win situation was the “innovation design 
sprint” with a multidisciplinary team from EMEA to 
support the development of innovative and differ-
entiated solutions for the EMEA Hot & Cold strategy. 
After an intense workshop in April, 15 concepts were 
presented with the aim of meeting the customers’ 
known and unknown needs. In the following months, 
the team discussed all concepts with customers 
during specific focus group meetings in Spain, Italy 
and France. All focus groups gathered a multidisci-
plinary team of plumbers with different profiles and 
enabled the EMEA team to confirm some hypotheses 
and further improve the technology concepts. 

Innovative products

In 2018, the EMEA team worked hard to design a very 
robust divisional innovation team, a process that is 
scheduled to be completed in 2019. This will make it 
possible to boost the development of new innovative 
products and services, to the benefit of our customers. 

As its customer-centric approach drives innovation, 
the division was able to launch several innovative 
new or improved products in 2018. An example of 
innovation is Magnetech, a patented technology 
with magnetic valves for shower outlets developed 
by the Nicoll team in France. This innovative technol-
ogy equips both Turboflow-XS, a solution for extra 
slim outlet drains and Docia-XS, for extra slim traps. 
Magnetech won three innovation awards this past 
year: a Bronze award at Interclima, the Worldwide 
Building Trade Show, the Innovation award of 
SOCODA, a leading independent network of distrib-
utors for the building and industry sectors in France, 
and the first prize at the NORDBAD Innovation Awards 
which recognise the best new products and processes 
for the construction sector.

Another innovative product launched in 2018 was 
Durapipe PLX+, a conductive system with a complete 
range of dedicated fusion-welded pipework systems 
for the safe transfer of fuels. The product range rep-
resents a major innovation in pipework technology, as 
it offers maximum protection against permeation and 
provides leak-free joints to protect the environment. 
An integral conductive connector ensures that there 
are no loose items which could go missing during the 
installation process. 

New operating model 
to capture growth
For EMEA, 2018 was a year of integration aimed at 
creating opportunities for growth. Part of this inte-
gration exercise was the design of a new operating 
model for the division. The EMEA team started with 
a series of workshops on how to build an operating 
model, in order to create a formal and systematic 
framework as a starting point. The team created a 
new design, which is currently under review. 

At the same time, the division developed a compre-
hensive set of criteria for evaluating the footprint of all 
the operating sites. The objective was to create more 
scale for some sites. Through an intense evaluation, 
the decision was made to close an extrusion line in 
Germany and to move the production to France to 
create synergy. Another facility in France has been 
closed and the production installation was moved to 
Spain, where capacity has now significantly increased. 
Both projects have been successful. In September, the 
division also started the process of moving a small 
plant in Italy. 

During 2018, the EMEA team also started an initiative 
to analyse our distribution footprint. For the complex 
distribution situation in Eastern Europe, a simplification 
plan was designed. This led to the closing or integra-
tion of some distribution centres and reinforcement 
of other sites in order to serve more customers in 
Eastern Europe. 
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Cross-fertilisation

Given the history of the European units acting as 
niche market players, there is a tremendous poten-
tial for implementing cross-fertilisation initiatives in 
order to expand the local product portfolios using 
Aliaxis products and also to start moving into seg-
ments that were never served.  This initiative has 
been led by our Marketing Segment Managers and 
Regional VP’s. The EMEA division also introduced 
some basic rules for guiding the actions required to 
boost cross-fertilisation. 

The launch of the Friastop Electrofusion Couplings with 
Integral Excess Flow Valve (EFV) in North America by 
IPEX is a good example of cross-fertilisation between 
the European and North American teams. The product 
is manufactured by Friatec in partnership with Mertek 
in Europe and was adapted to meet the needs of the 
US market with imperial units. 

Helping the community

As part of the celebration of 15 years of Aliaxis, several 
teams in EMEA organised activities to contribute to the 
community in which they operate. The Brussels and 
Luxembourg teams joined forces to support Natagora, 
a nature protection association. 120 people helped 
clear up a small river full of shrubs and branches to 
make it flow again. The land will be used to create 
a space dedicated to education on biodiversity and 
water, and the small river renamed ‘the Alia’. 

In Spain, the team carried out a charity campaign 
with the non-governmental organisation Amigos de 
Silva. Between 15 May and 15 June, 3% of the sales 
of all our products relating to the reduction of water 
consumption, such as flush valves and WC mech-
anisms, were collected. The money will be used to 
improve access to drinking water for the most disad-
vantaged populations in Ethiopia. Volunteers from the 
Alicante team also planted native palm trees in the 
industrial estate of Las Atalayas, Jimten’s headquar-
ters in Alicante, as a symbol of our commitment to 
the environment.

Another remarkable case was the contribution of 
Aliaxis products to the rescue of the Wild Boars 
football team trapped in the Tham Luang cave in 
Thailand in July 2018. The size of the cave and the 
heavy monsoon rain flooding made the rescue mission 
very difficult and the fast installation of a large piping 
system was needed to pump the water. To help the 
rescuers to get closer to their target, PTT NGD - an 
Aliaxis customer in Thailand - installed pipes to drain 
the cave as far as possible and connected them 
with Friatec’s FRIALEN sockets and FRIAMAT welding 
equipment. This supported the successful rescue of 
the missing persons. 

Creating our best place to work

This past year has been one of building the basics 
for a divisional HR policy. The team created a single 
database for all employees, making all bonuses, 
grading systems and car policies uniform across the 
division. The new policies are all in line with the Aliaxis 
Group fundamentals and have been put in place in a 
standardised way. 

Another major effect made in 2018 was to create 
a divisional team with key functions: Finance, 
HR, Marketing, Operations, Innovation and R&D, 
IT, Procurement and a Transformation manager. 
Aliaxis EMEA now has a complete divisional team, with 
one management team per country. 
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Global  
Leadership  
Team
The Board of Directors delegates responsibility for the 
day-to-day management of the Group to the Chief 
Executive Officer, in his capacity as Managing Director. 
The Group is organised around three operational divi-
sions: Americas, APAC (Asia-Pacific) and EMEA (Europe, 
Middle-East and Africa).

The Group’s Global Leadership Team (GLT) consists 
firstly of the divisional CEOs who are in charge of each 
of the operational divisions, and secondly the func-
tional heads, each in charge of a functional domain 
for the Group.

This GLT focuses on group-wide issues and also assists 
the CEO in proposing and implementing the overall 
strategy of the Group, as decided by the Board, and 
in creating synergies between the Group’s businesses 
around the globe.

Ursula Saint-Léger
Chief HR & Communications Officer

Patricia De Lanlay
Chief Information Officer

Laurent Lenoir
Chief Executive Officer

Don McKenzie
Divisional CEO APAC
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Manuel Monard
Chief Legal & Insurance Officer

Tom Van Gyseghem
Chief Growth Officer

Lars Boetje
Chief Strategy, M&A and Digital Officer

Frank Thielen
Divisional CEO

Koen Sticker
Chief Financial Officer

Fausto Bejarano
Divisional CEO EMEA

Alex Mestres
Divisional CEO Americas 
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Composition of the 
Board of Directors
 • Olivier van der Rest - Chairman
 • Laurent Lenoir - Chief Executive Officer
 • George Durman Esquivel
 • Bruno Emsens (till May 23, 2018)
 • 3F Advisory sprl (Represented by Olivier Hamoir)
 • Andréa Hatschek
 • Frank H. Lakerveld (till May 23, 2018)
 • Jean-Lucien Lamy (till May 23, 2018)
 • Didier Leroy (as from May 23, 2018)
 • Kieran Murphy
 • Marc Nolet de Brauwere
 • Yves Noiret
 • Amaury Pelgrims de Bigard
 • Patrick Simonard (as from May 23, 2018)
 • Patrick Thomas (as from May 23, 2018)
 • Hélène van Zeebroeck

 • Jean-Louis Piérard - Honorary Chairman

Board of Directors 
and Committees 
of the Board
Aliaxis S.A. is a private company. Its shares are not 
listed on any regulated stock market. Nevertheless, the 
Board is committed to maintaining high standards of 
corporate governance. 

The Board determines the overall strategy of the 
Group, decides on major investments and monitors 
the activities of the management in implementing the 
overall Group strategy. 

The Board of Directors met five times during 2018. 
There are three standing committees. Each of these 
committees supports the Board in specific aspects of 
its remit.

Strategy 
Committee 
The Strategy Committee is responsible for reviewing 
the strategic direction of the Group and makes rec-
ommendations to the Board on strategic options. 

The Committee met three times during 2018. It was 
composed of Olivier van der Rest, Jean-Louis de 
Cartier de Marchienne (as from May 23, 2018) Bruno 
Emsens (till May 23, 2018), 3F Advisory sprl (represented 
by Olivier Hamoir), Frank Lakerveld (till May 23, 2018), 
Jean-Lucien Lamy (Member and Chairman till May 
23, 2018), Laurent Lenoir, Didier Leroy (as from May 23, 
2018), Kieran Murphy (as from May 23, 2018), Yves Noiret 
(Chairman as from September 2018), Marc Nolet de 
Brauwere and Patrick Thomas (as from May 23, 2018).

Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee supports the Board in monitoring 
the accounting and financial reporting of the Group. 
It also focuses on reviewing the scope and results of 
Aliaxis’ external and internal audit procedures.

The Committee met four times in 2018. Its members 
were Kieran Murphy (Chairman), Jean-Lucien Lamy (till 
May 23, 2018), Amaury Pelgrims de Bigard and Patrick 
Thomas (as from May 23, 2018).
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Appointment  
and Remuneration 
Committee
The Appointment and Remuneration Committee 
advises the Board on board-level appointments 
and supports them in reviewing remuneration at 
executive-committee level.

The Committee met four times in 2018 and its members 
were Hélène van Zeebroeck, 3F Advisory sprl (repre-
sented by Olivier Hamoir) (Chairman), Frank Lakerveld 
(till May 23, 2018), Didier Leroy (as from May 23, 2018) 
Yves Noiret and Olivier van der Rest.

Agenda

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
Wednesday 22 May 2019 - 11 a.m.
At the Group’s registered office: Avenue Arnaud 
Fraiteur 15-23 – 1050 Brussels – Belgium

PAYMENT OF DIVIDEND
Monday, 1 July 2019

2019 HALF YEAR RESULTS
September 2019
Board of Directors to approve 2019 Half Year results - 
Results release

2019 FULL YEAR RESULTS
March 2020
Board of Directors to approve 2019 Full Year

Statutory 
appointments

Mr Yves Noiret has decided to step down from his 
mandate as Director at the general meeting of share-
holders on May 22, 2019. The board of directors wishes 
to sincerely thank him for his valuable contribution to 
the group during his many years of service. 

At this general meeting of shareholders, the board of 
directors will propose the election of a new director.

More details can be found in the section   
‘Non-consolidated accounts – profit distribution – 
statutory appointments’ of this annual report.
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Trading review
Aliaxis has delivered another excellent year in 2018. 
Driven by leadership positions and product innova-
tions, the company realised organic top line growth at 
constant currency in most of its key markets. Aliaxis also 
completed the acquisition of the remaining stake in its 
Indian joint venture, strengthening the position in this 
fast-growing market. In addition, through continued 
cost rationalisation and integration as part of the com-
pany-wide ‘D.N.A.’ transformation, the Aliaxis teams 
delivered an improved operational bottom line result. 

Divisional review

Aliaxis continued to execute on its ‘D.N.A.’ transformation 
to become a strong global integrated leader in the man-
ufacturing and distribution of advanced plastic piping 
systems. The continued execution of ongoing transforma-
tion initiatives and the launch of new workstreams sup-
ported the sharing of innovations and products globally, 
as well as the realisation of cost synergies. The stream-
lining of Marketing, Sales, Strategy & Innovation func-
tions as well as the launch of global Health and Safety 
standards further drove the deployment of best practices 
across Aliaxis. 

In 2018, we have seen continued strong performance in 
North America and India thanks to our leadership position. 
Australasia experienced a strong recovery compared to 
2017, with strong growth yet facing the impact of resin raw 
material prices. In Latin America and EMEA performance 
varied across businesses as a result of different market 
conditions across countries and segments. The South-
East Asia business continues to face challenging market 
conditions. Across regions and markets our continuous 
focus to reduce complexity and cost is supporting bottom 
line performance.

EMEA

The Europe, Middle-East and Africa division has 
overall witnessed a contrasted performance with 
good market conditions in the first half of the year 
but deteriorating market fundamentals in the second 
half. Nicoll France reported strong top line growth 

across most segments despite the slowdown of the 
renovation building segment after summer and a 
decline in demand for residential new build following 
the more stringent conditions around fiscal incentives 
for households. While the German building segment 
remains stable due to increased demand partially 
dampened by a shortage of skilled labour, the seg-
ments where we operate have contracted. In Spain, 
Aliaxis increased its sales in a growing building market, 
particularly in the new build segment. Yet, the irriga-
tion segment has seen adverse climate conditions 
which translates into a decline in this segment. In Italy, 
thanks to a stronger focus on specification work and 
a continued emphasis on the Industry segment, we 
report a solid growth despite the new built market 
slowing down. The UK infrastructure market remains 
flat but our top line grew on the back of increased 
attention to the distribution channel. 

The European team continues to focus on the execu-
tion of the growth and integration plans. In terms of 
growth, the key initiative remains the roll-out of the 
commercial excellence programme and the innovation 
strategy to position us to respond to the needs of our 
customers. From an integration perspective, the team 
has been committed to the optimisation of our manu-
facturing network and organisation simplification, not 
only to foster collaboration across teams but also to 
adjust ways of working to the continuously changing 
market dynamics.

Americas

In North America, the division reported an excellent 
year. Our leadership position in Canada allowed us to 
grow as continued infrastructure spending and higher 
than anticipated demand for housing created favour-
able market conditions. Similarly, sales grew in the USA, 
driven by a high demand for housing and a strong 
municipal market. Despite challenges in transportation 
capacity, several initiatives supported the delivery of 
superior levels of service thereby maintaining close 
relationships with our customers and distributors.

Latin America sales remained roughly flat at con-
stant currency in 2018 compared to the previous 
year, yet with mixed results across the different busi-
nesses. Sales grew in Colombia, driven by a strong 
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pipeline of agricultural irrigation projects despite 
modest public infrastructure spending. Our top line 
decreased in other markets, notably in Nicaragua 
where political unrest resulted in an economic slump. 
Nevertheless, our operational bottom line improved in 
2018. Continued initiatives to integrate our different 
businesses and to drive commercial excellence raised 
profitability in 2018.

APAC

The APAC division realised a strong 2018, driven by 
growth in Australasia, yet our business in South-East 
Asia continues to face challenges.

In Australia strong market conditions, particularly 
in the Coal Seam Gas segment, resulted in top line 
growth. In addition, weather conditions supported 
the demand in the irrigation segment. Our bottom 
line improved thanks to increased sales and the exe-
cution of cost improvement initiatives, allowing us to 
absorb strong PE resin price increases in the 1st half of 
the year. Our New Zealand business delivered strong 
results, driven by strong demand for housing.

In July, Aliaxis acquired the remaining 40% stake 
in Ashirvad Pipes Pvt Ltd, of which 37% has been 
acquired and paid in cash and 3% deferred over a 
three-year period. With this operation, Aliaxis now 
is a leader in the fast-growing Indian market and 
has a platform to further expand its activities in the 
region. Following the transaction, a new management 
team has been put in place, which drove a year on 
year performance improvement during the second 
half of the year. Top line grew in constant currency 
backed by strong plumbing sales. Further investments 
in 2018, including the new plant in the North and the 
implementation of a new ERP system, position us for 
future growth.

Financial review 
Changes in the scope 
of consolidation
In July, Aliaxis acquired the remaining 40% stake 
in Ashirvad Pipes Pvt Ltd, of which 37% has been 
acquired and paid in cash and 3% deferred over a 
three-year period. This transaction resulted in a net 
decrease of consolidated equity of € 379.8 million.

Statement of 
comprehensive income
Revenue from sales in 2018 was in line with last 
year, amounted to a total of € 3,095 million (2017:  
€ 3.095 million). 

Foreign exchange impacted the group’s sales neg-
atively by 4.4%, due to the weakening of the major 
trading currencies against the EUR, mainly the Indian 
rupee (9.8%), the Australian dollar (7.3%), the United 
States dollar (4.5%) and the Canadian dollar (4.5%).

The gross profit was € 842 million (2017: € 832 million), 
representing 27.2% (2017: 26.9%) of revenue. Commercial, 
administrative and other charges amounted to 
€ 569 million (2017: € 559 million), or 18.4% (2017: 18.0%) 
of sales.

Operating income (EBIT) for the year was € 273 million 
(2017: € 274 million), representing 8.8% (2017: 8.8%) of 
revenue. The overall decrease in operating income was 
0.1%. At constant exchange rates EBIT increased by 3.1%. 
The exchange rate movements had a negative impact 
of 3.2%. When excluding the non-recurring items of € 
35.3 million, mainly related to transformation and restruc-
turing initiatives, Current EBIT amounts to € 309 million, 
an increase of 2.7% versus last year. The Current EBIT 
margin amounts to 10.0%, compared to 9.7% in 2017.

Current EBITDA amounts to €415.1 million, an overall 
increase of €3.7 million or 0.9%. At constant exchange 
rates, Current EBITDA increased by €19.9 million or 5.0% 
as exchange rate movements had a negative impact 
of 4.1%. 
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Finance income and expenses mainly consisted of 
net interest expenses of € 21 million (2017: € 25 million). 
An analysis of finance income and expense is given in 
notes 10 (Finance income) and 11 (Finance expenses) 
to the consolidated financial statements.

The group operates a policy of managing its inter-
est rate exposure, and part of its debt was covered 
throughout the year by fixed interest rate swaps. 
The proportion of the debt covered by such instru-
ments reduces in line with the debt maturity dates. 
The balance of the group’s debt remained at vari-
able interest rates. The management of interest 
rate exposure is explained in notes 5 (Financial risk 
management) and 27 (Financial instruments) to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Income taxes, consisting of current and deferred 
taxes, amounted to € 87 million (2017: € 85 million), rep-
resenting an effective income tax rate of 37.9% (2017: 
35.1%). The reconciliation of the aggregated weighted 
nominal tax rate (24.9%) with the effective tax rate is 
set out in note 12 (Income taxes) to the consolidated 
financial statements.   

The group’s share of the profit for 2018 was € 137 million 
(2017: € 143 million). The group’s earnings per share in 
2018 were € 1.74 (2017: € 1.82), a decrease of 4.2%. 

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of 
income tax, increased by € 88 million from € -106 million 
in 2017 to € -18 million in 2018, mainly explained by the 
lower negative impact of exchange rate movements 
due to the weakening of the major trading curren-
cies against the EUR in 2018 compared to last year. 
The equity movement is explained below. 

The Group has contributed to the different local 
authorities in all the countries in which it operates, 
current taxes of €91 million (excl. withholding taxes 
on the Group dividend), employers’ social security 
contribution of €81 million (excl. employees’ social 
security contribution and payroll taxes) and taxes to 
be considered as operating expenses of €8 million 
(excl. VAT, duties,...).

Statement of financial position 

Intangible assets, consisting of goodwill and other 
intangible assets, amounted to € 793 million at 31 
December 2018 (2017: € 828 million). The decrease is 
attributable to the negative currency translation of 
€ 21 million, the annual amortisation of intangible 
assets of € 15 million and impairment of € 3 million, 
partially offset by the capital expenditure of € 4 million. 
Further details on movements in intangible assets are 
set out in note 13 (Intangible assets) to the consoli-
dated financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment amounted to 
€ 806 million at 31 December 2018, compared to 
€ 856 million at the end of the previous year. The main 
part of the net decrease of € 50 million was attrib-
utable to the depreciation charge of € 92 million, 
the transfers of € 19 million, mainly related to assets 
considered as assets held for sale and the nega-
tive impact of currency exchange movements of 
€ 17 million, partially offset by new capital expenditures 
of € 83 million. 

Assets held for sale amounted to € 48 million and 
liabilities held for sale to € 8 million, mainly related 
to the expected divestment of  Rheinhütte Pumpen. 
An analysis is provided in note 16 (Assets held for sale) 
to the consolidated financial statements.

Non-cash working capital amounted to € 463 million 
at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: € 480 million). 
As at 31 December 2018, working capital represented 
15.0% (2017: 15.5%) of revenue, which represents the 
lowest point in the annual cycle, reflecting the sea-
sonal nature of the group’s activities. 

The equity attributable to equity owners of the 
company decreased from € 1,553 million in 2017 to  
€ 1,251 million in 2018 mainly as a result of the neg-
ative impact of the acquisition of the minority stake 
in Ashirvad Pipes Pvt Ltd (€ 380 million), the negative 
impact of exchange rate movements (€ 25 million), 
and the negative impact of the net dividends paid 
(€ 42 million), partially offset by the net profit of the 
reporting period (€ 137 million).
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Non-controlling interests at 31 December 2018 
amounted to € 7 million (2017: € 71 million). The result of 
the net profit for the reporting period (€ 6 million) was 
offset by the negative impact of the acquisition of the 
minority stake in Ashirvad Pipes Pvt Ltd (€ 66 million), 
the negative exchange rate movements (€ 3 million) 
and the negative impact of the net dividends paid 
(€ 1 million).

Deferred tax liabilities amounted to € 79 million at 31 
December 2018 (2017: € 83 million). Deferred tax assets 
were € 40 million (2017: € 40 million). Further details on 
movements in deferred taxes are set out in note 24 
(Deferred tax assets and liabilities) to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Net Financial Debt:

(in € million) 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

Non-current borrowings 1,078 539

Current borrowings 70 123

Cash and cash equivalents (386) (317)

Bank overdrafts 13 13

Total 775 357

Net financial debt at 31 December 2018 increased 
by € 417 million. The major cash flows during the year 
arose from cash generated by the group’s operations 
(€ 404 million) less the price paid for the Ashirvad 
shares (€ 511 million), the capital expenditures made 
during the year (€ 86 million – excl. leasing), tax 
payments (€ 78 million), working capital changes 
(€ 74 million), net dividends paid (€ 43 million), and net 
interest payments (€ 19 million). A part of the increase 
is also explained by an impact of € 11 million related 
to the exchange conversion of the net financial debt 
in foreign currencies.

The return on capital employed in 2018 was 12.8% (2017: 
12.3%). The group’s share of return on equity was 9.8% 
(2017: 9.2%).

Our people
A key part of the creation of One Aliaxis and the rollout 
of our D.N.A. strategy has been the thorough review 
of our global HR approach and processes. Over the 
past year, a lot of work went into the implementation 
of our new global organisation model. The first D.N.A. 
workshops produced a blueprint of our global group 
structure. After some fine tuning, work started in 2018 
on transposing this blueprint from the drawing board 
into the real organisational structure.

We lost no time in bringing on board the right experts 
to define the roles that had been developed and 
to ensure that the new working methods would be 
implemented. We have focused on setting up new 
divisional and global teams for Marketing, Sales, 
Innovation and Operations. 

We have also streamlined some parts of our organ-
isation. In Europe, for example, we had to reorganise 
some units in France and Italy. During that process, 
we made sure that the people involved were taken 
care of, either with a move to a new post within our 
group or, where not possible, by providing them with 
all possible assistance in finding a job elsewhere.  

Another key process we started in 2018 is that of 
organising and optimising talents across all divisions 
and at every level of our group. Based on the talent 
mapping undertaken, we want to develop our people 
and make a real effort to increase their career poten-
tial and chances of promotion. The personal develop-
ment process is being organised in a dynamic manner 
with guaranteed consultation between employees 
and managers. 

Global mobility and our training programmes play 
an essential role in making Aliaxis “the best place 
to work” and in empowering personal growth within 
Aliaxis. That drove our decision to set up a global 
Aliaxis University platform, so that all our company 
training programmes (change management, values 
training, sales techniques, project management and 
manufacturing excellence) can be organised under 
one umbrella. This vision has been implemented and 
will be rolled out during the coming year. 
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One important prerequisite for the optimisation of our 
HR initiatives and deployment of the ideas launched in 
2018 is having a strong backbone and the right tools 
to monitor our global workforce, personnel profiles, 
training courses and payroll data. That is why we 
are delighted to report the successful introduction of 
a new global HR system called WorkDay, which will 
make it easier for us to review our HR performance, 
identify opportunities, organise training courses and 
set targets for the future. 

In 2018 the Group had 16,088 employees, compared 
with 15,904 in 2017. The EMEA division accounts for 38% 
of all staff. Americas rank second with 37%, followed by 
25% for Aliaxis’ APAC division.

Our innovations
Throughout 2018, Innovation teams across all Aliaxis 
divisions have joined forces to bring our group innova-
tion and R&D strategy and execution to the next level. 

One of the main highlights of 2018 was undoubtedly 
the Innovation Days in Paris in June 2018, where 
50 innovation and marketing experts from Aliaxis 
teams around the world gathered to demonstrate 
new products and processes that are being devel-
oped within the group. The teams participated in a 
design-thinking workshop and shared knowledge 
and ideas on how to develop innovative products. 
Aliaxis also granted Innovation Awards to outstand-
ing new concepts with a tangible benefit for our 
customers. The Marley Curve, a new era leaf diverter 
using innovative filtering technology, won the first 
prize. The second prize went to the Durapipe PLX+, 
a conductive system for the safe transfer of fuels. 
The team of Philmac Australia won the third prize for 
their gas compression fitting, an innovative technology 
to connect PE pipes for the North American domestic 
gas market. 

We have also filed 25 patents for new products this 
past year, which are now protected and lined up to 
be manufactured and brought to the market in the 
coming years.

Within the Aliaxis Group, local innovation teams in, for 
instance, Canada, France and India have demon-
strated an agile entrepreneurial spirit, enabling us 
to develop novel products that are fit for these local 
markets. This past year we accepted the challenge 
to reconcile this local entrepreneurial spirit with a 
more structured vision and a global Innovation and 
R&D strategy. It is our ambition to boost cross-fertilis-
ation across regions to increase our global innovation 
output.   

Our ambition in terms of Innovation is based on three 
main pillars: to increase the productivity of our cus-
tomers, to connect people with water and energy, 
to protect water and to protect from water. 2018 has 
been the year where this ambition has been trans-
formed into a practical strategy and was translated 
into an operational approach. We have set up the 
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Innovation Council, where the VP’s of Innovation 
and Product Development in each division meet 
and create transparency and complementarity 
on research and new product development in all 
regions. This council also strives to install uniform 
processes in each division such as stage-gate 
project management, portfolio management and 
knowledge management. 

This past year we have set the clear goal to signifi-
cantly increase new product sales and our innovation 
output. Our ambition is to become an innovation 
leader in the coming years and to be recognised by 
our customers as the most innovative company in 
our industry. 

During the several Innovation Council meetings of 
this past year, we translated that ambition into a 
series of concrete actions for the near future. First of 
all, we will bring the innovation performance in each 
region to the same level by increasing our efforts in, for 
example, India and Latin America. Global cooperation 
and cross-fertilisation will be stimulated across our 
divisions to adapt specific products to local markets. 
We will also reduce the number of incremental innova-
tion projects and focus on projects with a high global 
impact for Aliaxis, increasing the value of our innova-
tion pipeline. In this respect, an ideation approach is 
in progress to identify new innovative opportunities 
for Aliaxis, stimulating all employees to contribute to 
innovation and to create a companywide innovative 
culture globally. 

Winning together with our customers, detecting their 
needs during focus group workshops and working on 
novel products for them is an essential part of the 
ideation process. 

In addition, we adopt an open innovation approach, 
working with external technology providers and start-
ups to complement our internal innovation efforts. 
There is a wealth of innovation worldwide in the areas 
of new materials, sustainability and digitally enhanced 
products that Aliaxis can incorporate into its products 
to offer even greater value to its customers. 

Our impact on 
the environment
This past year we maintained our focus on rolling 
out the global environmental strategy that was 
launched in 2017. Achieving the ambitions that were 
set for 2020 regarding the five environmental pillars 
(energy savings, waste reduction, recycling, sustaina-
ble chemicals and water consumption) is high on the 
company’s agenda.

To be able to achieve these goals, we have set annual 
targets, like for example significantly reducing our 
CO2 emissions in 2018 or for waste quantity reduction 
and water consumption. By mid-2018 the first results 
showed that our organisation is on track to improve 
its performance regarding CO2 emissions. 

Meanwhile, we continued to invest in training pro-
grammes for our people across divisions and local 
businesses to save water and natural resources during 
our manufacturing process. This has already led to 
some good results reducing our water consumption 
footprint. We also kept our focus to our ultimate goal: 
become a zero waste-to-landfill company in 2020. 
We launched a group waste management method-
ology in the first quarter of 2018 and started to roll out 
the programme in every division by organising training 
and regular practical sessions. 

This has already generated some good results in for 
example Latin America and Europe. In these regions, 
we were able to identify opportunities to either stop 
producing waste or to make sure that we will have 
efficient waste sorting and collection on site to guar-
antee that our manufacturing waste will be recycled. 
Our company also had some good results regarding 
the integration of recycled raw materials in some of 
our products.

Regarding sustainable chemicals the goal is to be a 
company that truly cares about the health and safety 
of all employees and customers by only using safe 
chemicals. Our organisation is compliant and we are 
now ambitious to take a step further and anticipate 
regulations. We have identified some chemicals that 
could be fully accepted by the market, NGO’s and 
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other stakeholders. The process has been started 
and some good research has already been done, 
for example in France and in Latin America where 
we were able to fade out some heavy metals in our 
formula. These are important steps Aliaxis has taken 
already and we now want to accelerate these initia-
tives. This will be high on the agenda for 2019.

Our company is also closely involved in the Life 
Cycle Analysis (LCA) assessment process for plastic 
piping systems. This past year, we helped to update 
sectoral Life Cycle Analysis for European associ-
ations. Aliaxis has also been the representative of 
the European Plastic Pipes and Fittings Association 
(TEPPFA) for the European Commission. That gave 
us the chance to represent our industry and to work 
closely with the EU Commission to update the meth-
odology regarding LCA’s and to increase transpar-
ency and confidence about plastic piping systems 
towards society. 

Together with the Global Leadership Team, we also 
decided to apply our global environmental strategy 
not only to our own organisation but also to suppli-
ers and even our customers. In 2018, for example we 
drafted some environmental criteria to help in select-
ing our suppliers. The global implementation of it was 
a little bit postponed but 2019 will see a relaunch of 
this process. And we also want to help our custom-
ers and distributors to embark on an environmental 
footprint optimisation journey. Moreover, we have 
kicked off the process to create environmental rules 
and parameters to implement in the research and 
development process for new products. That way, we 
are creating end-products that will be safe, recyclable 
and environmentally friendly. 

Risks and 
uncertainties
The risk profile of the companies within the Aliaxis 
Group is similar to that of other manufacturing and 
distribution companies operating in an international 
environment and includes general business risk, 
economic and sector risks as well as credit, liquidity 
and market risks arising from exposure to currencies, 
interest rates and commodity prices. The Group is also 
exposed to more specific risks such as, for example, 
public, product and employer’s liability, property 
damage and business interruption and the risks from 
administrative, fiscal and legal proceedings.

Developments in respect of administrative, fiscal, and 
legal proceedings are described as appropriate in 
notes 25 (Provisions) and 30 (Contingencies) to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

The Group has adopted a range of internal policies 
and procedures to identify, reduce and manage 
these risks either at individual company level or, where 
appropriate, at Group level.

The Group’s approach to the management of 
credit, liquidity and market risks (including com-
modity, interest rate and currency) is set out in note 
5 (Financial risk management) to the consolidated 
financial statements.
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Use of derivative 
financial 
instruments
Risks relating to creditworthiness, interest rate and 
exchange rate movements, commodity prices and 
liquidity arise in the Group’s normal course of business. 
However, the most significant financial exposures for 
the Group relate to the fluctuation of interest rates 
on the Group’s financial debt and to fluctuations in 
currency exchange rates.

The Group’s approach to the management of these 
risks is described in note 27 (Financial instruments).

Subsequent  
events
On February 22, 2019, Aliaxis announced the signing 
of the divestment of Rheinhütte Pumpen to ITT Inc. 
(NYSE: ITT). This divestment is in line with the com-
pany’s strategy to explore new paths for non-core 
activities. The cash consideration is approximately 
€80.5m. The transaction is expected to close in 
the second quarter of 2019, and is subject to cus-
tomary closing conditions, including appropriate 
regulatory approvals.

Outlook for 2019
The Board of Directors and management believe 
that the Company is well positioned to invest further 
in growth, both in the short and in the long-term and 
to become a strong global integrated leader in the 
manufacturing and distribution of advanced plastic 
piping systems.

The Company will continue to strengthen the business 
fundamentals and further roll-out its key initiatives, 
with greater emphasis on digitalisation and the further 
reshaping of the organisation.

Dividend
The Board of Directors will propose that the general 
meeting of shareholders on 22 May 2019 approves the 
distribution of a gross dividend of € 0.58685 per share. 
Upon approval by the General meeting, this dividend 
will become payable as of 1 July 2019.

Statutory 
appointments
Following the decision of Mr. Yves Noiret to step down 
from his position as a board member, the board, 
upon recommendation of the Appointment and 
Remuneration Committee, proposes to the share-
holders to elect Mr. Rajesh Jejurikar as Director of 
Aliaxis SA for a term of office of three years ending 
at the general meeting of shareholders to be held 
in 2022.
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Consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income
Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 31 December (in € thousand) Notes 2018 2017

Revenue 3,095,009 3,094,676

Cost of sales (2,252,820) (2,262,611)

Gross profit 842,188 832,065

Commercial expenses (266,815) (266,521)

Administrative expenses (231,028) (222,033)

R&D expenses (23,606) (22,835)

Other operating income / (expenses) 7 (12,231) (20,296)

Profit from operations before non-recurring items 308,508 300,380

Non-recurring items 8 (35,303) (26,837)

Operating income 273,205 273,542

Finance income 11 6,081 15,874

Finance expenses 10 (48,854) (47,349)

Profit before income taxes 230,432 242,067

Income tax expense 12 (87,301) (85,004)

Profit for the period 143,131 157,064

of which attributable to Group equity holders 137,103 143,218

of which attributable to non-controlling interests 6,028 13,846

Earnings per share (in €): 

Basic earnings per share 21 1.74 1.82

Diluted earnings per share 21 1.74 1.82

Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December (in € thousand) Notes 2018 2017

Profit for the period recognised in the income statement 143,131 157,064

Items that will never be reclassified to profit and loss:

Change in fair value of put option with non-controlling interests 26 - (1,962)

Fair value changes on investments 26 (12) -

Remeasurement IAS 19 (net of taxes) 23b 9,344 (88)

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit and loss:

Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations 20 (27,223) (108,965)

Net profit/(loss) on hedge of net investment in foreign operations 27 (1,486) 5,733

Cost of hedging reserves - changes in FV 27 430 (722)

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 27 6,540 (15,438)

Change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to profit or loss 27 (5,848) 16,615

Deferred taxes related to hedges (145) (1,257)

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of income tax (18,400) (106,085)

Total comprehensive income for the period 124,732 50,979

of which attributable to Group equity holders 121,221 41,996

of which attributable to non-controlling interests 3,511 8,983

The notes on pages 41 to 116 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement 
of financial position
As at 31 December (in € thousand) Notes 2018 2017

Intangible assets and goodwill 13 792,746 827,868

Property, plant & equipment 14 806,087 856,231

Investment properties 15 3,443 5,665

Other assets 18,060 18,614

Derivative financial instruments with positive fair values 27 45,514 37,880

Deferred tax assets 24 40,239 40,047

Employee benefits 23b 34,938 27,909

Non-current assets 1,741,027 1,814,214

Inventories 17 546,763 512,003

Current tax assets 12,263 29,274

Amounts receivable 18 381,512 390,092

Derivative financial instruments with positive fair values 27 4,278 1,768

Cash & cash equivalents 19 386,458 317,361

Assets held for sale 16 48,142 2,738

Current assets 1,379,415 1,253,236

TOTAL ASSETS 3,120,442 3,067,450

As at 31 December (in € thousand) Notes 2018 2017

Share capital 20 62,666 62,666

Share premium 20 13,332 13,332

Retained earnings and reserves 1,174,871 1,476,775

Equity attributable to Group equity holders 1,250,870 1,552,773

Non-controlling interests 20 7,297 71,377

TOTAL EQUITY 1,258,167 1,624,150

Loans and borrowings 22 1,078,580 539,260

Employee benefits 23b 74,132 83,501

Deferred tax liabilities 24 78,768 82,566

Provisions 25 15,428 17,478

Derivative financial instruments with negative fair values, including 
fair value adjustment on debt 

27 9,867 15,682

Other amounts payable 26 35,573 3,413

Non-current liabilities 1,292,349 741,900

Loans and borrowings 22 69,770 122,523

Bank overdrafts 19 12,836 12,975

Provisions 25 29,545 23,199

Derivative financial instruments with negative fair values, including 
fair value adjustment on debt 

27 1,868 6,355

Current tax liabilities 14,282 18,816

Amounts payable 26 433,387 517,532

Liabilities held for sale 16 8,239

Current liabilities 569,926 701,399

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,862,275 1,443,299

TOTAL EQUITY & LIABILITIES 3,120,442 3,067,450

The notes on pages 41 to 116 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement 
of changes in equity
2017

(in € thousand) Notes
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Hedging 

reserve
Reserve for 
own shares

Translation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total 
capital & 
reserves

Non-
controlling 

interests
TOTAL 

EQUITY

As at 1 January 2017 62,666 13,332 (6,256) (156,992) (96) 1,638,106 1,550,759 71,756 1,622,515
Profit for the period 143,218 143,218 13,846 157,064
Other comprehensive 
income :

Foreign currency 
translation differences

20 (124) (103,984) (104,108) (4,857) (108,965)

Net loss on hedge of net 
investment (net of tax)

20 5,733 5,733 - 5,733

Cash flow hedges 
(net of tax)

27 (802) (802) - (802)

Remeasurement IAS19 (82) (82) (6) (88)

Change in fair value 
of put option with 
non-controlling interests

26 (1,962) (1,962) (1,962)

Transactions with Group 
equity holders :

Share-based payments 23c 103 103 103

Own shares acquired 20, 23c (5,080) (5,080) (5,080)

Own shares sold 20, 23c 1,873 1,325 3,198 3,198
Dividends to shareholders 20 (38,203) (38,203) (9,362) (47,565)

Disposal of non-
controlling interest

- - - -

As at 31 December 2017 62,666 13,332 (7,183) (160,199) (98,348) 1,742,505 1,552,774 71,377 1,624,150

2018

(in € thousand) Notes
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Hedging 

reserve
Reserve for 
own shares

Translation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total 
capital & 
reserves

Non-
controlling 

interests
TOTAL 

EQUITY

As at 1 January 2018 62,666 13,332 (7,183) (160,199) (98,348) 1,742,505 1,552,774 71,377 1,624,150

Profit for the period 137,103 137,103 6,028 143,131

Other comprehensive 
income :

Foreign currency 
translation differences

20 (70) (24,635) (1) (24,706) (2,517) (27,223)

Net gain on hedge of net 
investment (net of tax)

20 (1,486) (1,486) - (1,486)

Cash flow hedges 
(net of tax)

27 978 978 - 978

Remeasurement IAS19 23b 9,344 9,344 - 9,344

Fair Value changes on 
investments

26 (12) (12) (12)

Transactions with Group 
equity holders :

Share-based payments 23c - - -

Own shares acquired 20, 23c (7,649) (7,649) (7,649)

Own shares sold 20, 23c 4,625 1,936 6,561 6,561
Dividends to shareholders 20 (42,000) (42,000) (1,149) (43,149)

Acquisition of non-
controlling interest without 
change in control

6 (28) (380,009) (380,037) (66,442) (446,479)

As at 31 December 2018 62,666 13,332 (6,303) (163,224) (124,469) 1,468,867 1,250,869 7,297 1,258,166

The notes on pages 41 to 116 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December (in € thousand) Notes 2018 2017

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before income tax 230,432 242,067

Depreciation 14, 15 91,734 94,466

Amortisation 13 15,003 16,114

Impairment losses on PP&E,  intangible assets and assets held-for-sale 14, 13 3,369 3,834

Impairment losses on working capital and others 7,156 7,918

Increase / (decrease) in provisions 25 25,424 23,546

Equity-settled share-based payments 23c - 103

Financial instruments - fair value adjustment through profit or loss 27 (18,189) 32,201

Net interest (income) / expenses 11, 10 20,924 24,676

Dividend income 11 (204) (459)

Loss / (gain) on sale of intangible assets 7 - (51)

Loss / (gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment 7 (203) (138)

Loss / (gain) on sale of investment property (1) -

Loss / (gain) on sale of businesses - (11,082)

Other - miscellaneous - mainly FX 28,447 (26,865)

Gross cash flows from operating activities 403,892 406,330

Decrease / (increase) in inventories (57,100) (33,257)

Decrease / (increase) in amounts receivable (12,113) (23,925)

Increase / (decrease) in amounts payable 17,980 2,895

Increase / (decrease) in provisions 25 (22,392) (20,168)

Changes in working capital and provisions (73,625) (74,455)

Cash generated from operations 330,267 331,875

Income tax paid 12 (77,524) (84,858)

Net cash flows from operating activities 252,743 247,017

For the year ended 31 December (in € thousand) Notes 2018 2017

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 14 2,150 596

Proceeds from sale of intangible assets - 51

Proceeds from sale of investment properties 1 -

Proceeds from sale of assets held-for-sale 720 -

Proceeds from sale of investments 29 14

Repayment of loans granted 22 - 3

Sale of a business, net of cash disposed of - 14,936

Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired 6 (510,742) (3,346)

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 14 (82,655) (108,118)

Acquisition of intangible assets 13 (3,773) (2,194)

Acquisition of investment properties 15 - (31)

Acquisition of other investments (24) (265)

Loans granted 22 (162) (119)

Dividends received 204 459

Interest received 5,397 2,168

Net cash flows used in investing activities (588,855) (95,847)
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For the year ended 31 December (in € thousand) Notes 2018 2017

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of treasury shares 23c 6,561 3,198

Proceeds from obtaining  borrowings 22 628,676 53,102

Repurchase of treasury shares 23c (7,649) (5,080)

Repayment of borrowings 22 (145,051) (43,814)

Dividends paid (42,788) (47,529)

Interest paid (24,399) (26,872)

Cash flows from financing activities 415,350 (66,995)

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 79,237 84,175

Cash and cash equivalents
For the year ended 31 December (in € thousand) Notes 2018 2017

As at 1 January 2018 19 304,386 239,996

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents 79,237 84,175

Cash and cash equivalents resulting from scope changes and A/L HFS  transfers 16 (1,194) 26

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (8,809) (19,812)

As at 31 December 2018 19 373,620 304,386

The notes on pages 41 to 116 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. Corporate information
Aliaxis S.A. (“the Company”) is a company domiciled in Belgium. The address of the Company’s registered office 
is Avenue Arnaud Fraiteur, 15/23, 1050 Brussels. The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and 
for the year ended 31 December 2018 comprise the Company, its subsidiaries and interest in equity accounted 
investees (together referred to as the “Group” or “Aliaxis”).

Aliaxis employed around 16,100 people, is present in more than 40 countries throughout the world, and is 
represented in the marketplace through more than 100 manufacturing and selling companies, many of which 
trade using their individual brand identities. The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacture and sale of 
plastic pipe systems and related building and sanitary products which are used in residential and commercial 
construction and renovation as well as in a wide range of industrial and public utility applications.

The financial statements have been authorised for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on 21 March 2019.

2. Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) effective and adopted by the European Union as at the reporting date.

Aliaxis was not obliged to apply any European carve-outs from IFRS, meaning that the financial statements 
are fully compliant with IFRS. The Company has not elected for early application of any of the standards or 
interpretations which were not yet effective on the reporting date.

(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the following:

 • derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value;
 • financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value;
 • share-based payment arrangements;
 • employee benefits;
 • asset-held-for-sale.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in euro, which is the Company’s functional cur-
rency. All financial information presented in euro has been rounded to the nearest thousand, except when 
otherwise indicated.
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(d) Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgments in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements, are described in the following notes:

 • Note 13 – measurement of the recoverable amounts of cash-generating units;
 • Note 23b – measurement of defined benefit obligations;
 • Note 23c – measurement of share-based payments;
 • Note 24 – use of tax losses;
 • Notes 25 and 30 – provisions and contingencies;
 • Note 27 – valuation of derivative financial instruments and determination of effectiveness for 
hedge accounting.

Measurement of fair values

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both 
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

When measuring the fair values of an asset and liability, the Group uses market observable data as far as 
possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in 
the valuation techniques as follows:

 • Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
 • Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

 • Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the following notes:

 • Note 15 – investment properties;
 • Note 23c – share-based payments;
 • Note 27 – financial instruments.
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3. Significant accounting policies
Except for the changes explained below, the accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the 
previous financial year.

As of 1 January 2018, Aliaxis adopted the following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations:

 • IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, this standard establishes a comprehensive framework 
for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognized. It replaced IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 
Construction Contracts and related interpretations. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognized when a customer 
obtains control of the goods or services. Determining the timing of the transfer of control – at a point in time 
or over time – requires judgement. The Group has adopted IFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method, with 
the effect of initially applying this standard recognized at the date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2018). 
Accordingly, the information presented for 2017 has not been restated – i.e. it is presented, as previously 
reported, under IAS 18, IAS 11 and related interpretations. The application of IFRS 15 has no significant effect 
on the Group’s financial position and performance.

 • IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three aspects of the accounting for financial 
instruments: classification and measurement; impairment; and hedge accounting. With the exception of 
hedge accounting, which the Group applied prospectively, the Group has applied IFRS 9 retrospectively, with 
the initial application date of 1 January 2018, not adjusting the comparative information for earlier periods.

 • CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT
Under IFRS 9, debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss, 
amortised cost, or fair value through OCI. The classification is based on two criteria: the Group’s 
business model for managing the assets; and whether the instruments’ contractual cash flows 
represent ‘solely payments of principal and interest’ on the principal amount outstanding. 
The classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 did not have a significant impact on the 
Group. The Group continued measuring at fair value all financial assets previously held at fair value under 
IAS 39. The most relevant category for the Group is the financial assets at amortised cost because the 
Group classifies its trade receivables mainly under this category. The classification of these instruments 
into that category is supported because:

 - The trade receivables are generally held within a business model with the objective to hold the financial 
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

 - The contractual terms of the trade receivables give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The categorisation of the trade receivables as financial assets at amortised cost means that they are 
subsequently measured using the effective interest rate method (EIR), if applicable, and they are subject 
to the impairment model of IFRS 9 (see below). Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when 
the asset is derecognised. There are no changes in classification and measurement for the Group’s 
financial liabilities.
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 • IMPAIRMENT
The adoption of IFRS 9 has changed the Group’s accounting for impairment losses for financial assets by 
replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach. 
IFRS 9 requires the Group to recognise an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments not held at fair 
value through profit or loss and contract assets. It applies mainly to trade receivables for which the 
Group decided to apply the simplified approach in accordance with IFRS 9. In line with the requirements 
of the standard the Group does not track changes in credit risk for these assets but instead recognises 
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting period. The Group has established a provision 
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific 
to the debtors and the economic environment, when relevant. Upon the adoption of IFRS 9, the Group 
recognised no significant additional impairment on the Group’s Trade receivables.

 • HEDGE ACCOUNTING
The Group applied hedge accounting prospectively. At the date of initial application, all of the 
Group’s existing hedging relationships were eligible to be treated as continuing hedging relation-
ships. Before the adoption of IFRS 9, the Group designated the change in fair value of the entire 
forward contracts in its cash flow hedge relationships. Upon adoption of the hedge accounting 
requirements of IFRS 9, the Group designates only the spot element of forward contracts as hedging 
instrument. The forward element is recognised in OCI and accumulated as a separate compo-
nent of equity under Cost of hedging reserve. This change only applies prospectively from the 
date of initial application of IFRS 9 and has no impact on the presentation of comparative figures. 
Under IAS 39, all gains and losses arising from the Group’s cash flow hedging relationships were eligible to 
be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. However, under IFRS 9, gains and losses arising on cash flow 
hedges of forecast purchases of non-financial assets need to be incorporated into the initial carrying 
amounts of the non-financial assets. This change only applies prospectively from the date of initial 
application of IFRS 9 and has no impact on the presentation of comparative figures.

The Group considered that the following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations, also adopted as of 
1 January 2018, did not result in significant changes in the consolidated financial statements:

 • IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration; 
 • Amendments to IFRS 2: Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions; 
 • Amendments to IAS 40: Transfers of investment property; 
 • Annual improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle;
 • Amendments to IFRS 4: Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts.

Except as mentioned above, the accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by all of the 
reporting entities that Aliaxis has defined in its reporting and consolidation process.

Certain comparative amounts in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements have been reclassified 
conform to the current year’s presentation.

Aliaxis has chosen 31 December as the reporting date. The consolidated financial statements are presented 
before the effect of the profit appropriation of the Company proposed to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, 
and dividends therefore are recognised as a liability in the period they are declared.
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(a) Basis of consolidation

A list of the most important subsidiaries and equity accounted investees is presented in Note 32.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date that on which control commences until the date that on which control ceases.

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at 
the date of acquisition. 

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions.  

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with 
equity accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the 
investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there 
is no evidence of impairment.

Loss of control

Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any related, 
non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any resulting gain or 
loss is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the former subsidiary, then such interest is 
measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. 

(b) Foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currency of Aliaxis entities at 
exchange rates at the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are carried at historical cost are translated 
at the reporting date at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
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denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated at the reporting date at the 
exchange rate at the date the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation 
are recognised in profit or loss, except for differences arising on the retranslation of available-for-sale equity 
instruments or a financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation (see below), 
which are recognised directly in other comprehensive income (OCI) under translation reserve.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acqui-
sition, are translated to euro at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign 
operations are translated to euro at average exchange rates for the year approximating the foreign exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions. The components of shareholders’ equity are translated at historical 
exchange rates.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCI, and presented in the foreign currency translation reserve 
(translation reserve) in equity. However, if the operation is a non-wholly owned subsidiary, then the relevant 
proportionate share of the translation difference is allocated to non-controlling interests. When a foreign oper-
ation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the 
translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on 
disposal. When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation 
while retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling 
interests. When the Group disposes of only part of its investment in an associate or joint venture that includes a 
foreign operation while retaining significant influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative 
amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

Hedge of net investment in a foreign operation

The Group applies hedge accounting to foreign currency differences arising between the functional currency 
of the foreign operation and the euro regardless of whether the net investment is held directly or through an 
intermediate parent.  Foreign currency differences arising on the retranslation of a financial liability designated 
as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation are recognised directly in OCI under translation reserve, to 
the extent that the hedge is effective. To the extent that the hedge is ineffective, such differences are recognised 
in profit or loss. When the hedged net investment is disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant cumulative amount 
in equity is transferred to profit or loss as an adjustment to the profit or loss on disposal.

In addition, monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither 
planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future are a part of the Group’s net investment in such foreign 
operation. Any foreign currency differences on these items are recognised directly in OCI under translation 
reserve, and the relevant cumulative amount in OCI is transferred to profit or loss when the investment is 
disposed of, in part or in full.
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Exchange rates

The following major exchange rates have been used in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Average Reporting date

2018 2017 2018 2017

AUD 1.580 1.473 1.622 1.535

CAD 1.530 1.465 1.561 1.504

GBP 0.885 0.876 0.895 0.887

NZD 1.706 1.590 1.706 1.685

USD 1.181 1.130 1.145 1.199

INR 80.708 73.515 79.730 76.606

(c) Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill that arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries is presented with intangible assets.

The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to those reporting entities that are expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the business combination and those are considered as the Group’s cash-generating units. 

Goodwill is expressed in the functional currency of the reporting entity to which it is allocated and is translated 
to euro using the exchange rate at the reporting date.

In respect of equity accounted investees, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount 
of the investment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses (see Note 3k).

The Group elected not to restate those business combinations that occurred prior to the transition to IFRS; this 
goodwill represented the amount, net of accumulated amortisation, recognised under the Group’s previous 
accounting framework, Belgian GAAP.

For acquisitions as of 1 January 2010, goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the 
Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree. 
When the excess is negative (negative goodwill), it is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
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Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets such as customers’ relationships, trademarks, patents acquired in a business combination 
initially are recognised at fair value. If the criteria for separate recognition are not met, they are subsumed 
under goodwill.

The calculation of the fair value of a customer list is based on the discounted cash flows (after tax) derived from 
the sales related to such customers after (i) applying an attrition rate (as observed over a relevant historical 
period of time), and (ii) accounting for all related operating costs (except financial) including specific contributory 
charges on assets and labour.

Research and development

Expenditure on research activities undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge 
and understanding is recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products 
and processes. Development expenditure is capitalised only if development costs can be measured reliably, the 
product or process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and Aliaxis 
intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. The expenditure 
capitalised includes capitalised borrowing costs and the cost of materials, direct labour and overhead costs 
that are directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use. If the recognition criteria referred to 
above are not met, the expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as an expense when incurred. 

Capitalised development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation (see below) and 
accumulated impairment losses (see Note 3k).

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by Aliaxis which have finite useful lives are measured at cost less 
accumulated amortisation (see below) and accumulated impairment losses (see Note 3k).

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the 
specific asset to which it relates.  All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill 
and brands, is recognised in profit or loss when incurred.
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Amortisation

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible 
assets with a finite life, from the date that they are available for use. Goodwill is not amortised.  The estimated 
useful lives are as follows:

 • Patents, concessions and licenses 5 years
 • Capitalised development costs 3-5 years
 • IT software 5-7 years
 • Drawings 25 years

The value of the customer list is amortised -with a straight-line method- along a useful life which corresponds 
to the number of years until the present value of the last individual cash-flow becomes insignificant. 

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted 
if appropriate.

(d)  Property, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation (see below) and 
impairment losses (see Note 3k). Aliaxis elected to measure certain items of property, plant and equipment 
at 1 January 2005, the date of transition to IFRS, at fair value and used those fair values as deemed cost at 
that date.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset; e.g. cost of materials 
and direct labour, costs incurred to bring the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use, any 
relevant costs of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site on which the asset was located when 
the Group has an obligation. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment 
and borrowing costs are capitalised, as part of that equipment. 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the 
net proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognised 
within other income/expenses in profit or loss.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent expenditure

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of 
the item only if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within such part will flow to the Group 
and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of 
the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part 
of an item of property, plant and equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term 
and their useful lives, unless there is certainty that the Group will take ownership at the end of the lease term. 
Land is not depreciated.

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated from the date that they are installed and are ready 
for use.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

 • Buildings:
 • Structure 40-50 years
 • Roof and cladding 15-40 years
 • Installations 15-20 years

 • Plant, machinery and equipment:
 • Silos 20 years
 • Machinery and surrounding equipment 10 years
 • Moulds 3-5 years

 • Furniture 10 years
 • Office machinery 3-5 years
 • Vehicles 5 years
 • IT & IS 3-5 years

Depreciation methods and useful lives, together with residual values if not insignificant, are reassessed at each 
reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

(e) Leased assets

Leases under the terms of which Aliaxis assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified 
as finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset, as well as the lease liability, is measured at an 
amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. 

Other leases are operating leases and are not recognised in the statement of financial position (see Note 3u).

(f) Investment properties

Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both. 
Investment property is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see Note 3k).

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the property 
consistent with the useful lives for property, plant and equipment (see Note 3d). 



Notes to the consolidated financial statements54

The fair values, which are determined for disclosure purposes, are based on market values, being the estimated amount 
for which a property could be exchanged on the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in 
an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and 
without compulsion. In the absence of current prices in an active market, the valuations are prepared by considering the 
aggregate of the estimated cash flows expected to be received from renting out the property. A yield that reflects the 
specific risks inherent in the net cash flows is then applied to the net annual cash flows to arrive at the property valuation.

(g) Other non-current assets

Investments in equity securities

Investments in equity securities are undertakings in which Aliaxis does not have significant influence or control. These invest-
ments are designated as available-for-sale financial assets which are, subsequent to initial recognition, measured at fair 
value, except for those equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair 
value cannot be reliably measured. Those equity instruments that are excluded from fair valuation are stated at cost. 
Changes in the fair value, other than impairment losses (see Note 3k), are recognised directly in OCI. When an investment 
is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised directly in equity is transferred to profit or loss.

Investments in debt securities

Investments in debt securities are classified at fair value through profit or loss or as being available-for-sale 
and are carried at fair value with any resulting gain or loss respectively recognised in profit or loss or directly 
in OCI. Impairment losses (see Note 3k) and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Other financial assets

A financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is held for trading or is designated as such 
upon initial recognition. Financial assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss if Aliaxis manages 
such investments and makes purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value. Upon initial recognition, 
attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognised in profit or loss.

Other assets

These assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment 
losses (see Note 3k).

(h) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on 
the weighted average principle for raw materials, packaging materials, consumables, purchased components 
and goods purchased for resale, and on the first-in first-out principle for finished goods, work in progress and 
produced components.
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The cost includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing location 
and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost also includes production costs 
and an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs 
of completion and selling expenses.

(i) Amounts receivable

Amounts receivable comprise trade and other receivables. These amounts are carried at amortised cost, less 
impairment losses (see Note 3k).

(j) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with final maturities of three months 
or less at acquisition date. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the 
Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the 
statement of cash flows.

(k) Impairment 

Financial assets

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if 
objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash 
flows of that asset. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference 
between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. An impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by 
reference to its current fair value.

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial 
assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics. 

All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any cumulative loss of an available-for-sale financial asset 
recognised previously in OCI is transferred to profit or loss.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impair-
ment loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost and available-for-sale financial 
assets that are debt securities, the reversal is recognised in profit or loss. For available-for-sale financial assets 
that are equity securities, the reversal is recognised directly in OCI.
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Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories (see Note 3h) and deferred 
tax assets (see Note 3v), are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any external or 
internal indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 
For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use, the 
recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit (“CGU”) exceeds 
its recoverable amount. A CGU is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely are 
independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses 
recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to 
the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro 
rata basis.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to 
sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using an 
appropriate pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset or CGU. 

The Group’s overall approach as to the level for testing goodwill impairment is at the lowest level at which 
goodwill is monitored for external reporting purposes, which is in general at CGU. The recoverable amount 
of the CGUs to which the goodwill belongs is based on a discounted free cash flow approach, based on 
acquisition valuation models. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples or other available 
fair value indicators.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised 
in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no 
longer exists.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognised.

(l) Discontinued operations and assets held for sale

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business that represents a separate major line of 
business or geographical area of operations that has been disposed of or is held for sale, or is a subsidiary 
acquired exclusively with a view to resale. Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or 
when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. When an operation is classified 
as a discontinued operation, the comparative statement of comprehensive income is re-presented as if the 
operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative period.
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Assets held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities) that are expected to be recovered 
primarily through sale rather than through continuing use are classified as held for sale. Immediately before 
classification as held for sale, the assets (or components of a disposal group) are remeasured in accordance with 
the Group’s accounting policies. Thereafter, the assets (or disposal group) are generally measured at the lower 
of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is first allocated 
to goodwill, and then to remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to 
inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets and employee benefit assets, which continue to be measured 
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale 
and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss. Gains are not recognised in 
excess of any cumulative impairment loss. Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment once classified 
as held for sale are not amortised or depreciated. In addition, equity accounting of equity-accounted investees 
ceases once classified as held for sale.

(m) Share capital

Ordinary shares

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are recognised as a 
deduction from equity.

Repurchase of share capital

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, including directly 
attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are 
classified as treasury shares and are presented in the reserve for own shares. When treasury shares are sold or 
reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or 
deficit on the transaction is transferred to/from retained earnings.  

Dividends

Dividends are recognised as liabilities in the period in which they are declared.

(n) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are stated at amortised cost with 
any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount being recognised in profit or loss over the 
expected life of the instrument on an effective interest rate basis.
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(o) Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts.  Obligations for 
contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in profit or loss in the period 
during which related services are rendered by employees.

Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Group’s 
net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating 
the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior 
periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value and the fair value of any plan assets are 
deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on AA credit-rated bonds that have maturity 
dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations and that are denominated in the same currency in 
which the benefits are expected to be paid.

The calculation is performed annually by qualified actuaries using the projected unit credit method. When the 
benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service by employees is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group recognises gains and losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan when the 
curtailment or settlement occurs. The gain or loss on curtailment or settlement comprises any resulting change 
in the fair value of plan assets and any change in the present value of the defined benefit obligation. 

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprises actuarial gains and losses, the return on 
plan assets (excluding interests) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interests) are recognised 
immediately in OCI. The Group determines the net interest expenses (income) on the net defined benefit liability 
(asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the 
beginning of the annual period to the then-net defined benefit liability (asset), taking into account any changes 
in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. 
Net interest expenses and other expenses related to a defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss.

When the calculation results in a benefit to Aliaxis, the recognised asset is limited to the present value of any 
future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

In order to calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any minimum funding 
requirements that apply to any plan in the Group. An economic benefit is available to the Group if it is realisable 
during the life of the plan, or on settlement of the plan liabilities. 
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Other long-term employee benefits

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits other than pension plans such as service 
anniversary bonuses is the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the 
current and prior periods. The obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method and is discounted 
to determine its present value, and the fair value of any related assets is deducted. The discount rate is the 
yield at the reporting date on AA credit-rated bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the 
Group’s obligations and that are denominated in the same currency in which the benefits are expected to be 
paid. Any actuarial gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when Aliaxis is demonstrably committed, without realistic 
possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to terminate employment before the normal retirement 
date. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised if Aliaxis has made an offer encouraging 
voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can 
be estimated reliably. If benefits are payable more than 12 months after the reporting date, then they are 
discounted to their present value.

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations such as bonuses are measured on an undiscounted basis and are 
expensed as the related service is provided. A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under 
short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if Aliaxis has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay 
this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of options granted to employees is measured at grant date. The amount is recognised as an 
employee expense, with a corresponding increase in equity within retained earnings, and spread over the period 
in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The amount recognised as an expense 
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest.

The fair value of options granted to employees is measured using the Black & Scholes valuation model. 
Measurement inputs include share price on measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected 
volatility (based on historic volatility adjusted for changes expected due to publicly available information), 
weighted average expected life of the instruments (based on historical experience and general option holder 
behaviour), expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds). Service and 
non-market performance conditions attached to the transactions are not taken into account in determining 
fair value.
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(p) Provisions

A provision is recognised if as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation 
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  The 
unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

Warranties

A provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying products or services are sold. The provision is based 
on historical warranty data and a weighting of all possible outcomes against their associated probabilities.

Restructuring

A provision for restructuring is recognised when Aliaxis has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, 
and the restructuring either has commenced or has been announced publicly before the reporting date. 
Future operating losses are not provided for.

Onerous contracts

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Group from 
a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is 
measured as the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected 
net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, the Group recognises any impairment 
loss on the assets associated with the contract.

(q) Amounts payable

Amounts payable which comprise trade and other amounts payable represent goods and services provided to 
the Group prior to the end of the reporting date which are unpaid. These amounts are carried at amortised cost.

(r) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Aliaxis holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign currency and interest rate risks 
arising from operational, financing and investment activities. As a policy, Aliaxis does not engage in speculative 
transactions and does not therefore hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. However, 
derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are accounted for as trading instruments.

Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if the economic 
characteristics and risks of the host contract and the embedded derivative are not closely related, a separate 
instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative, and the 
combined instrument is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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On initial designation of the derivative as the hedging instrument, the Group formally documents the relationship 
between the hedging instrument and hedged item, including the risk management objectives and strategy 
in undertaking the hedge transaction and the hedged risk, together with the methods that will be used to 
assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. The Group makes an assessment, both at the inception 
of the hedge relationship as well as on an ongoing basis, of whether the hedging instruments are expected 
to be highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the respective hedged items 
attributable to the hedged risk, with the ultimate objective to validate the economic relationship between the 
hedging instrument and the hedged item. For a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, the transaction 
should be highly probable to occur and should present an exposure to variations in cash flows that could 
ultimately affect reported profit or loss.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss 
when incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein 
are accounted for as described below. 

Cash flow hedges

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flows attribut-
able to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction 
that could affect profit or loss, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative hedging 
instrument designated as a cash flow hedge is recognized directly in equity (hedging reserve). Any inef-
fective portion of changes in fair value is recognised in profit or loss. If the hedging instrument no longer 
meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, then hedge accounting is 
discontinued prospectively. 

The cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in equity (hedging reserve) remains there until the forecast 
transaction occurs. When the hedged item is a non-financial asset, the amount recognised in equity is trans-
ferred to the carrying amount of the asset when it is recognised. In other cases, the amount recognised in equity 
is transferred to profit or loss in the same period that the hedged item affects profit or loss.

Following the implementation of IFRS 9 in 2018, a “cost of hedging” reserve has been identified within the hedging 
reserve; it represents the cumulative gain or loss of the potion of the derivatives that was excluded from the 
designated hedging instrument, related to the forward elements (swap points) or to the liquidity conditions 
(basis spreads) of the forward contracts.

Due to the transition method selected, changes to hedge accounting policies have been applied pro-
spectively except for the cost of hedging approach for forward points and basis spreads, which has been 
applied retrospectively.

Hedge of net investment in foreign operation

Where a derivative financial instrument hedges a net investment in a foreign operation, the portion of the gain 
or the loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be effective is recognised directly in equity within 
the translation reserve, while the ineffective portion is reported in profit or loss.
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Fair value hedges

When a derivative financial instrument hedges the variability in fair value of a recognised asset or liability, any 
resulting gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in profit or loss. The hedged item is also stated at 
fair value in respect of the risk being hedged, with any gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Economic hedges

Hedge accounting is not applied to derivative instruments that economically hedge monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. Changes in the fair value of such derivatives are recognised in profit 
or loss as part of foreign currency gains and losses.

(s) Revenue

Goods sold

Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net 
of returns and allowances, trade discounts and volume rebates. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized 
at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the goods. 
The Group considers whether there are other promises in the contract that are separate performance obliga-
tions to which a portion of the transaction price needs to be allocated. In determining the transaction price for 
the sale of goods, the Group considers the effects of variable consideration and the existence of significant 
financing components (if any).

Rental income

Rental income from investment properties is recognised in profit or loss in other operating income on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total 
rental income, over the term of the lease.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised initially as deferred income when there is reasonable assurance that they will 
be received and that Aliaxis will comply with the conditions associated with the grant. Grants that compensate 
the Group for expenses incurred are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in 
which the expenses are recognised. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are recognised 
in other operating income and expense on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset.
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(t) Finance income and expenses

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, dividend income, gains on the disposal of available-for-sale 
financial assets, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, foreign currency gains, and 
gains on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss. Interest income is recognised as it accrues, 
using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised on the date that the Group’s right to receive 
payment is established. 

Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, foreign 
currency losses, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, impairment 
losses recognised on financial assets (except losses on receivables) and losses on hedging instruments that are 
recognised in profit or loss. Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition or construction 
of a qualifying asset are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis as either finance income or finance expense 
depending on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net loss position.

(u) Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as a reduction of the total lease expense, over the term of 
the lease. When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period is expired, any payment required to be 
made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the 
reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so 
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining 
term of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.

(v) Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss 
except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity, or in other 
comprehensive income. 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or sub-
stantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
Current tax payable also includes any tax liability arising from the declaration of dividends.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes (including differences 
arising from fair values of assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination). Deferred tax is not recog-
nised for the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to 
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they probably will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
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Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when 
they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and on the same 
taxable entity or group of entities.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax the Company takes into account the impact of uncertain 
tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Company believes that its accruals for 
tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including interpre-
tations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve 
a series of judgements about future events. New information may become available that causes the Company 
to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will 
impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date 
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

(w) Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, except if they arise 
from a business combination. They are disclosed, when material, unless the possibility of a loss is remote. 
Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements but are disclosed, when material, 
if the inflow of economic benefits is probable.

(x) Events after the reporting date

Events after the reporting date which provide additional information about the Group’s position as at the 
reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after the report-
ing date which are non-adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
when material.

(y) Earnings per share

Aliaxis presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated 
by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or 
loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise share options granted to employees. 

(z) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year 
ended 31 December 2018, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements:
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IFRS 16 Leases published on 13 January 2016 makes a distinction between a service contract and a lease based 
on whether the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset and introduces a single, 
on-balance lease sheet accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognises a right-of-use asset representing 
its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. 
There are optional exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low value items. Lessor accounting remains 
similar to the current standard – i.e. lessors continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases. 

IFRS 16 replaces existing leases guidance including IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement 
contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases—Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions 
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. 

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The Group has assessed 
the estimated impact that initial application of IFRS 16 will have on its consolidated financial statements as 
described below. The actual impacts of adopting the standard on 1 January 2019 may change because:

 • The Group has not finalised the testing and assessment of controls over its new IT systems;
 • The new accounting policies are subject to change until the Group presents its first financial statements that 
include the date of initial application.

The Group will recognize new assets and liabilities for its operating leases of warehouses and factory facilities. 
The nature of expenses related to those leases will now change because the Group will recognize a depreciation 
charge for right-of-use assets and interest expense on lease liabilities.

Previously, the Group recognized operating lease expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, 
and recognized assets and liabilities only to the extent that there was a timing difference between actual lease 
payments and the expense recognized. 

The group has set up a core team which has reviewed all of the group’s leasing arrangements over the last year 
in light of the new lease accounting rules in IFRS 16. The standard will affect primarily the accounting for the 
group’s operating leases. Based on the information currently available, the Group estimates that it will recognize 
additional lease liabilities in the range of € 100 - 120 million as at 1 January 2019. The Group does not expect the 
adoption of IFRS 16 to impact its ability to comply with the revised maximum leverage threshold loan covenant.

The Group plans to apply IFRS 16 initially on 1 January 2019, using the modified retrospective approach. Therefore, 
the cumulative effect of adopting IFRS 16 will be recognized as an adjustment to the opening balance of 
retained earnings at 1 January 2019, with no restatement of comparative information.

The Group plans to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the definition of a lease on transition. 
This means that it will apply IFRS 16 to all contracts entered before 1 January 2019 and identified as leases in 
accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments issued on 7 June 2017, clarifies how to apply the recognition 
and measurement requirements in IAS 12 when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. In such a 
circumstance, an entity shall recognize and measure its current or deferred tax asset or liability applying the 
requirements in IAS 12 based on taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and 
tax rates determined applying this Interpretation. An entity is required to assume that a tax authority with 
the right to examine and challenge tax treatments will examine those treatments and have full knowledge of 
all related information. Detection risk is not considered in the recognition and measurement of uncertain tax 
treatments. The entity should measure the impact of the uncertainty using the method that best predicts the 
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resolution of the uncertainty; either the most likely amount method or the expected value method. The inter-
pretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with earlier adoption permitted. 
The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
This interpretation has been endorsed by the EU.

Annual improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle, issued on 12 December 2017, cover the following 
minor amendments:

 • IFRS 3 Business Combinations: the amendments clarify that a company remeasures its previously held interest 
in a joint operation when it obtains control of the business.

 • IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements: the amendments clarify that a company does not remeasure its previously held 
interest in a joint operation when it obtains joint control of the business.

 • IAS 12 Income Taxes: the amendments clarify that a company accounts for all income tax consequences of 
dividend payments consistently with the transactions that generated the distributable profits – i.e. in profit 
or loss, OCI or equity.

 • IAS 23 Borrowing Costs: the amendments clarify that a company treats as part of general borrowings any 
borrowing originally made to develop an asset when the asset is ready for its intended use or sale.  

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 with earlier 
application permitted. These amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s con-
solidated financial statements. These amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU.

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to IAS 28) issued on 12 October 2017, clarifies 
how companies should account for long-term interests in an associate or joint venture, to which the equity 
method is not applied, using IFRS 9. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2019, with early adoption permitted. The amendments are not expected to have a material impact 
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. These amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU.

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to IAS 19) issued on 7 February 2018, clarifies that 
on amendment, curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan, the current service cost and net interest 
for the remainder of the annual reporting period are calculated using updated actuarial assumptions – i.e. 
consistent with the calculation of a gain or loss on the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement. 

The amendment also clarifies that an entity first determines any past service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, 
without considering the effect of the asset ceiling. This amount is recognized in profit or loss. The entity then 
determines the effect of the asset ceiling after plan amendment, curtailment or settlement. Any change in that 
effect is recognized in other comprehensive income (except for amounts included in net interest). The amend-
ments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and are applied prospectively. 
The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
These amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU.

Amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations, issued on 22 October 2018, provides more guidance on the 
definition of a business. The amendment includes an election to use a concentration test. This is a simplified 
assessment that will result in an asset acquisition if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets is 
concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of similar identifiable assets. If one does not apply the 
concentration test, or the test is failed, then the assessment focuses on the existence of substantive process. 

The amendment applies to businesses acquired in annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 with 
earlier application permitted. The amendment has not yet been endorsed by the EU.
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Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material was issued on 31 October 2018 clarifying the definition of 
‘Material’ and aligning the definition of ‘material’ across the standards. The new definition states that “infor-
mation is considered material, if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence 
decisions that primarily users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial 
statements, which provide information about a specific reporting entity”. The amendments clarify that mate-
riality will depend on the nature or magnitude of information. The amendments are effective prospectively for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 with earlier application permitted. The amendment has 
not yet been endorsed by the EU.

On 29 March 2018, the IASB has issued Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS 
Standards (Amendments to CF). The Conceptual Framework sets out the fundamental concepts of financial 
reporting that guides the Board in developing IFRS Standards. It helps to ensure that the Standards are con-
ceptually consistent and that similar transactions are treated the same way, providing useful information for 
investors and others. The Conceptual Framework also assists companies in developing accounting policies when 
no IFRS Standard applies to a particular transaction; and it helps stakeholders to understand the Standards 
better. Key changes include:

 • Increasing the prominence of stewardship in the objective of financial reporting, this is to provide information 
that is useful in making resource allocation decisions;

 • Reinstating prudence, defined as the exercise of caution when making judgements under conditions of uncer-
tainty, as a component of neutrality;

 • Defining a reporting entity, which might be a legal entity or a portion of a legal entity;
 • Revising the definition of an asset as a present economic resource controlled by the entity as a result of 
past events;

 • Revising the definition of a liability as a present obligation of the entity to transfer an economic resource as 
a result of past events;

 • Removing the probability threshold for recognition, and adding guidance on de-recognition;
 • Adding guidance on the information provided by different measurement bases, and explaining factors to 
consider when selecting a measurement basis;

 • Stating that profit or loss is the primary performance indicator and that, in principle, income and expenses in 
other comprehensive income should be recycled where the relevance or faithful representation of the financial 
statements would be enhanced.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020, whereas the Board will 
start using the revised Conceptual Framework immediately. These amendments have not yet been endorsed 
by the EU.
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4. Business combinations

(a) Acquisition method

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method when control is transferred to the Group 
(definition of control see 3a). The consideration transferred in the acquisition is measured at fair value, as are 
the identifiable net assets acquired. 

Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment.

Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. 
Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity 
securities, that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent con-
sideration meets the definition of a financial instrument and is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and 
settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes to in the fair value of the contingent 
consideration are recognised in profit or loss. 

Put options granted to non-controlling shareholders are recognised as a liability measured at the present 
value of the exercise price and accounted for using the present-access method when the NCI have present 
access to the returns that are the subject of the put options. Under this method, NCI continue to be recognised 
because the non-controlling shareholders still have present access to the returns associated with the underlying 
ownership interests. All changes in the carrying amount of the liability are recognised in equity. The financial 
liability arising from the put option is not included in the consideration transferred of a business combination, but 
accounted for separately. If the put option expires unexercised, then the put liability is reversed against equity.

(b) Determination of fair values

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition 
under IFRS 3 are recognised at their fair value at acquisition date as follows:

 • The fair value of property, plant and equipment is based on market values. The fair value of property is the 
estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer 
and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted 
knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. The fair value of items of plant, equipment, fixtures and 
fittings is based on the quoted market prices for similar items when available and depreciated replacement 
costs when appropriate.

 • The fair value of patents and trademarks is based on the discounted estimated royalty payments that have 
been avoided as a result of the patent or trademark being owned. The fair value of other intangible assets 
is based on the discounted cash flows expected to be derived from the use and eventual sale of the assets. 
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 • The fair value of customer list is based on the discounted cash flows (after tax) derived from the sales related 
to such customers after (i) applying an attrition rate (as observed over a relevant historical period of time), 
and (ii) accounting for all related operating costs (except financial) including specific contributory charges 
on assets and labour.

 • The fair value of inventories is determined based on its estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business less the estimated costs of completion and sale, and a reasonable profit margin based on the effort 
required to complete and sell the inventories. 

 • Contingent liabilities are recognised at fair value on acquisition, if their fair value can be measured reliably. 
The amount represents what a third party would charge to assume those contingent liabilities, and such 
amount reflects all expectations about possible cash flows and not the single most likely or the expected 
maximum or minimum cash flow. 

5. Financial risk management

(a) Overview

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to credit, liquidity and market risks, the Group’s objec-
tives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, as well as the Group’s management of capital. 
Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Risks relating to credit worthiness, interest rate and exchange rate movements, commodity prices and liquid-
ity arise in the Group’s normal course of business. However, the most significant financial exposures for the 
Group relate to the fluctuation of interest rates on the Group’s financial debt and to fluctuations in currency 
exchange rates.

The Group addresses these risks and defines strategies to limit their economic impact on its performance in 
accordance with its financial risk management policy. Such policy includes the use of derivative financial instru-
ments. Although these derivative financial instruments are subject to fluctuations in market prices subsequent 
to their acquisition, such changes are generally offset by opposite changes in the value of the underlying items 
being hedged.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing how management monitors compliance with the Group’s 
financial risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management frame-
work in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Audit Committee relies on the monitoring performed 
by management.

The Group considers that the Brexit process would not represent a material risk for the Group and that it will 
not impact the Group’s normal course of business in any material way.
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(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced by the individual characteristics of each customer, its industry 
and the country or region where it operates. The Group’s main sales distribution channels are wholesale and 
retail do-it-yourself (DIY) chains. Despite a trend towards consolidation in Europe and North America, the 
diversity of Aliaxis’ product range helps it to maintain a wide customer portfolio and to avoid as much as possible 
exposure to any significant individual customer.

Aliaxis management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing 
basis. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit above a certain amount. The Group 
does not require collateral, except in very rare circumstances, in respect of financial assets.

Investments are allowed only in liquid securities and only with counterparties that have a robust credit rating. 
Transactions involving derivatives are with counterparties with whom the Group has a signed netting agree-
ment and who have sound credit ratings. Management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet 
its obligations.

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect 
of trade and other receivables and investments. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss 
component that relates to individually significant exposures, and a collective loss component established for 
groups of similar assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet identified. The collective loss 
allowance is determined based on historical data of payment statistics for similar financial assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset, including 
derivatives in the statement of financial position.

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 

Typically, the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses, 
including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances 
that cannot reasonably be predicted.

In addition, the Group has secured access to Banking Facilities and Debt Capital Markets instruments.

 • As for Banking Facilities, the Group has (i) a multi-currency revolving credit facility of € 680 million committed  
until July 2021 which has been extended until July 2022 for an amount of € 631 million, and (ii) a Club Deal 
multi-currency Facility of € 400 Million maturing in July 2022 made up of a € 200 million amortizing Term Loan 
Tranche, and a € 200 million bullet Revolving Tranche.

 • As for Debt Capital Markets Instruments, the Group has issued (i) an amount of USD 260 million of US Private 
Placement notes for a period of 7 to 12 years maturing from 2018 to 2023; (ii) an amount of USD 35 Million of 
US Private Placement notes for a period of 10 years maturing in 2025, and an amount of EUR 18 million of US 
Private Placement (swap note) for a period of 12 years maturing in 2027; and (iii) an amount of EUR 120 million 
of Shuldschein certificates for a period of 5 to 7 years maturing from 2020 to 2022. 
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(d) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, inter-
est rates or equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. 
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimising the return.

The Group buys and sells derivatives, and also incurs financial liabilities, in order to manage market risks. All such 
transactions are carried out within the financial risk management policies. Generally, the Group seeks to apply 
hedge accounting in order to manage volatility in profit or loss.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on transactions such as sales, purchases, borrowings, dividends, 
fees and interests, denominated in non-euro currencies. Currencies giving rise to such risk are primarily the 
Canadian dollar (CAD), the Australian dollar (AUD), the New Zealand dollar (NZD), the pound sterling (GBP), 
the Indian rupee (INR) and the US dollar (USD). Where there is no natural hedge, the foreign currency risk is 
primarily managed by the use of forward exchange contracts. All contracts have maturities of less than one 
year. Foreign currency risk on firm commitments and forecast transactions is subject to hedging (in whole or in 
part) when the underlying operating transactions are reasonably expected to occur within a determined time 
frame. Hedge accounting is not applied to derivative instruments that economically hedge monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. Changes in the fair value of such derivatives are recognised 
in profit or loss as part of foreign exchange gains and losses.

The Group’s policy is to partially hedge the risk arising from consolidating net assets denominated in non-euro 
currencies by permanently maintaining liabilities through borrowings or cross currency swaps in such non-euro 
currencies. Where a foreign currency borrowing, or cross currency swaps are used to hedge a net investment 
in a foreign operation, exchange differences arising on translation of the borrowing are recognised directly in 
OCI within translation reserve. The Group’s net investments in Canada, the US, India, Australia, the UK and New 
Zealand are partially hedged through borrowings or cross currency swaps maintained in Canadian dollars, US 
dollars, Indian rupees, Australian dollars, pound sterling and New Zealand dollars.

Interest on borrowings is denominated in currencies that match the cash flows generated by the underlying 
operations of the Group, primarily CAD, EUR, GBP, AUD, INR, and USD. This provides an economic hedge and 
no derivatives are entered into.

In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the Group ensures that its 
net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates when necessary 
to address short-term imbalances.
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Commodity risk

Raw materials used to manufacture the Group’s products mainly consist of plastic resins such as polyvinylchloride 
(PVC), polyethylene (PE) and polypropylene (PP), which are a significant element of the cost of the Group’s 
products. The prices of these raw materials are volatile and tend to be cyclical, and Aliaxis is generally able 
to recover raw material price increases through higher product selling prices, although sometimes after a 
time lag. The Group increasingly seeks to optimise its resin purchases thanks to a centralised approach to the 
procurement of major raw materials.

In addition, the Group is also exposed to the volatility of energy prices (particularly electricity).

Interest rate risk

The Group has floating-rate borrowings exposed to the risk of changes in cash flows, due to changes in interest 
rates. The Group has also fixed rate debt instruments (US Private Placement Notes denominated in USD and in 
EUR, or Schuldschein Certificates denominated in EUR).

The Group policy is to hedge its interest rate risk through swaps, cross currency swaps and other derivatives. 
No derivatives are ever acquired or maintained for speculative or leveraged transactions.

Other market price risk

Demand for the Group’s products is principally driven by the level of construction activity in its main markets, 
including new housing, repairs, maintenance and improvement, infrastructure and industrial markets. Its geo-
graphical and industrial spread provides a degree of risk diversification. Demand is influenced by fluctuations in 
the level of economic activity in individual markets, the key determinants of which include GDP growth, changes 
in interest rates, the level of new housing starts and industrial and infrastructure investment.

(e) Capital management

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain the confidence of investors, creditors 
and other stakeholders and to sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the 
return on equity (profit of the year attributable to equity holders of the Group divided by the average of equity 
attributable to equity holders of Aliaxis at the beginning and end of the reporting period). 

The Board of Directors also monitors the level of dividends to ordinary Shareholders. The Group’s present inten-
tion is to recommend to the Shareholders’ Meeting a dividend increasing in line with past practice and subject 
to annual review in light of the future profitability of the Group.

No assurance can however be given that the Company will pay dividends in the future. Such payments will 
depend upon a number of factors, including prospects, strategies, results of operations, earnings, capital 
requirements and surplus, general financial conditions, contractual restrictions and other factors considered rele-
vant by the Board. Pursuant to the Belgian Company Code, the calculation of amounts available for distribution 
to Shareholders, as dividends or otherwise must be determined on the basis of the Company’s non-consolidated 
Belgian GAAP financial statements by which the Company is required to allocate each year at least 5% of its 
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annual net profits to its legal reserve, until the legal reserve equals at least 10% of the Company’s share capital. 
As a consequence of these factors, there can be no assurance as to whether dividends or similar payments will 
be paid out in the future or, if they are paid, what their amount will be.

The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels 
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. In 2018, the Group share 
of return on equity was 9.8% (2017: 9.2%). In comparison, the weighted average interest rate on the net financial 
interest-bearing indebtedness was 3.6% (2017: 5.4%).

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year, which will remain 
prudent given the current economic circumstances.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

6. Acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries 
and non-controlling interests

In India, Aliaxis acquired in July 2018 a further 40% stake in Ashirvad Pipes Pvt Ltd in addition to its 60% stake. 
37% has been acquired and paid in cash and 3% will be deferred over a three-year period (1/3rd each year) 
based upon an additional agreement with the seller.

Aliaxis acquired the outstanding 40% non-controlling interest as follows (in ‘000 euro):

 • Acquisition of 37% :
 • Consideration paid 500,464
 •  Additional consideration paid 10,152

Total consideration paid in 2018 510,616

 • Acquisition of 3% :
 • Payable to be settled over 3 years 49,131
 • Additional costs to be settled in 2019 627

Total payable   49,758

 • Total cost 560,374

The difference between the total cost € 560.4 million and the value of 40% of the carrying amounts of Non con-
trolling Interests € 66.6 million and of the fair value of the put option at the time of the acquisition € 113.9 million, 
was directly recognized in the consolidated equity through a decrease of € 379.8 million.
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7. Other operating income 
and expenses

(in € thousand) 2018 2017

Government grants 1,005 1,019

Rental income from investment properties 1,112 1,096

Operating costs of investment properties (188) (404)

Gain/(loss) on the sale of fixed assets 203 189

Restructuring costs (341) (739)

M&A related intangibles amortisation (10,137) (10,744)

Taxes to be considered as operating expenses (7,855) (7,967)

Other rental income 1,230 1,137

Insurance recovery 211 204

Impairment on fixed assets (21) (444)

Other 2,548 (3,643)

Other operating income / (expenses) (12,231) (20,296)

8. Non-recurring items
(in € thousand) Notes 2018 2017

Impairment of goodwill 13 - (1,315)

Other non-recurring items (35,303) (25,523)

Non-recurring items (35,303) (26,837)

In 2018 and 2017, the cost in respect of the other non-recurring items relates mainly to transformation and 
restructuring initiatives.

The impairment of goodwill in 2017 relates to business in South-East Asia. 

9. Additional information on 
operating expenses

The following personnel expenses are included in the operating result:

(in € thousand) Notes 2018 2017

Wages & salaries 571,368 577,192

Social security contributions 81,016 82,208

Net change in restructuring provisions 2,477 1,237

Expenses related to defined benefit plans 23b 5,940 6,606

Expenses related to defined contribution plans 23a 15,712 15,777

Share-based payments 23c - 103

Other personnel expenses 30,200 30,880

Personnel expenses 706,712 714,002
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The total average number of personnel was as follows:

(in units) 2018 2017

Production 11,136 10,937

Sales and marketing 3,110 3,097

R&D and administration 1,842 1,876

Total workforce 16,088 15,910

Personnel expenses, depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges are included in the following line items 
of the consolidated statement of profit and loss:

(in € thousand) Personnel expenses

Depreciation and 
impairment of 

property, plant 
& equipment, 

investment property 
and assets held for 

sale

Amortisation and 
impairment of 

intangible fixed 
assets

Total depreciation, 
amortisation and 

impairment

Cost of sales 375,947 81,708 351 82,059

Commercial expenses 172,374 1,662 259 1,922

Administrative expenses 135,856 5,715 3,923 9,637

R&D expenses 16,610 778 292 1,070

Other operating (income) / expenses 657 1,660 10,182 11,841

Non recurring items 5,268 1,042 2,534 3,576

Total 706,712 92,565 17,541 110,106

10. Finance expenses
(in € thousand) 2018 2017

Interest expense on financial borrowings (25,514) (26,642)

Amortisation of deferred arrangement fees (1,053) (853)

Interest expense on other liabilities (7) (132)

Net foreign exchange loss (13,022) (9,278)

Bank fees (5,159) (4,877)

Other (4,099) (5,568)

Finance expenses (48,854) (47,349)

11. Finance income
(in € thousand) 2018 2017

Interest income from cash & cash equivalents 3,868 1,669

Interest income on other assets 732 429

Dividend income 204 459

Net change in the fair value of hedging derivatives - ineffective portion 419 1,340

Gain on disposal of businesses, net - 11,082

Other 858 895

Finance income 6,081 15,874
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12. Income taxes
Income taxes recognised in the profit or loss can be detailed as follows:

(in € thousand) 2018 2017

Current taxes for the period (82,733) (89,740)

Adjustments to current taxes in respect of prior periods (8,351) (2,885)

Total current tax expense (91,084) (92,625)

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 5,298 5,154

Impact of change in enacted tax rates (207) (384)

Adjustment of deferred taxes in respect of prior periods (1,307) (2,854)

Recognition of deferred tax assets on tax losses not previously recognised - 5,706

Total deferred tax income / (expense) 3,783 7,621

Income tax expense in profit & loss (87,301) (85,004)

The income tax recognised in other comprehensive income is not material.

The reconciliation of the effective tax rate with the aggregated weighted nominal tax rate can be summarised 
as follows:

(in € thousand) 2018 2017

Profit before income taxes 230,432 242,067

Tax at aggregated weighted nominal tax rate (57,305) 24.9% (64,096) 26.5%

Tax effect of:

Non-deductible expenses (3,563) 1.5% (4,296) 1.8%

Non-deductible impairment of goodwill - 0.0% (394) 0.2%

Non-deductible interest expenses (3,911) 1.7% (2,562) 1.1%

Tax credits and tax deductions 5,150 (2.2%) 5,054 (2.1%)

Current year losses for which no deferred tax asset is recognised (13,436) 5.8% (10,391) 4.3%

Change in enacted tax rates (207) 0.1% (384) 0.2%

Taxes on distributed and undistributed earnings (1,181) 0.5% (6,768) 2.8%

Withholding taxes on interest and royalty income (2,530) 1.1% (1,448) 0.6%

Taxation on another basis than income (1,094) 0.5% (1,251) 0.5%

Utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised 1,520 (0.7%) 3,890 (1.6%)

Current tax adjustments in respect of prior periods (8,351) 3.6% (2,885) 1.2%

Deferred tax adjustments in respect of prior periods (1,307) 0.6% (2,854) 1.2%

Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses and tax credits - 0.0% 5,706 (2.4%)

Other (1,085) 0.5% (2,325) 1.0%

Income tax expense in profit & loss (87,301) 37.9% (85,004) 35.1%

Income taxes, consisting of current and deferred taxes, amounted to € 87 million (2017: € 85 million), representing 
an effective income tax rate of 37.9% (2017: 35.1%). 
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13. Intangible assets and goodwill
2018 2017

(in € thousand) Goodwill

 Intangible 
assets (finite 

life)
Total Intangible 

assets
Total Intangible 

assets

Cost

As at 1 January 695,178 324,243 1,019,421 1,078,596

Changes in the consolidation scope & Asset deals - 80 80 2,761

 - Acquisitions - 80 80 3,385

 - Deconsolidation - - - (624)

Acquisitions - 3,773 3,773 2,194

Disposals & retirements - (793) (793) (3,788)

Transfers (1,041) (1,003) (2,044) 557

Exchange difference (13,283) (11,970) (25,252) (60,899)

As at 31 December 680,855 314,330 995,185 1,019,421

Amortisation and impairment losses

As at 1 January (77,238) (114,314) (191,552) (190,696)

Changes in the consolidation scope - - - 441

 - Deconsolidation - - - 441

Charge for the period - (17,541) (17,541) (19,137)

 - Amortisation - (15,003) (15,003) (16,114)

 - Impairment (recognised) / reversed - (2,538) (2,538) (3,023)

Disposals & retirements - 543 543 3,698

Transfers 1,041 1,041 2,081 2

Exchange difference 713 3,317 4,029 14,139

As at 31 December (75,485) (126,954) (202,439) (191,552)

Carrying amount at the end of the period 605,370 187,376 792,746 827,869

Carrying amount at the end of the previous period 617,940 209,929 827,869 887,898
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The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each CGU at 31 December is as follows:

(in € thousand) 2018 2017

CGU Country

Aliaxis North America and subsidiaries Canada and USA 240,848 247,957

Vinidex and Philmac Australia 64,959 68,658

FIP Italy 61,887 61,887

Durman Esquivel and subsidiaries Central America 37,729 37,662

Ashirvad India 38,223 39,782

New Zealand and subsidiaries New Zealand 36,175 36,617

Nicoll France 32,701 32,701

Friatec Technical Plastics Germany 31,712 31,712

Marley Deutschland Gmbh Germany 19,402 19,402

Nicoll Perù SA Peru 8,971 8,919

Other (1) Other 32,763 32,642

Goodwill 605,370 617,940

(1) Carrying amount of goodwill for various CGUs of which none is individually significant.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group’s operating units which represent the 
lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are, through calculation methods consistent with past practice, deter-
mined from value-in-use calculations. These value-in-use calculations use 5-year free cash flow projections, 
starting from 2019 budget information and extrapolated for the four years thereafter.

Assumptions were made for each CGU taking into account past performance and management expecta-
tion of market developments, generally implying with operating performance stable vs. the 2019 budget and 
growth not exceeding 2% per year (for most industrialised countries) and 3% to 4% for Latin American countries. 
Deviations from such general assumptions were made for certain CGUs to deal with specific circumstances 
applying to such units. Due to the specific situation of the CGUs in Australia, South-East Asia and India, the 
projections were not based on the above mentioned general assumptions but were individualised and based 
on the local market prospects of each CGU. Implied annualized growth rates (CAGR) for these CGUs were 
respectively 3.5% (Australia), 8% (South-East Asia) and 10% (India).

The terminal value is based on the normalised cash flows at the end of the last projected period for each 
business and a sustainable nominal growth rate (including the expected inflation rate) of on average 2% for 
most industrialised countries (Europe, Canada, USA), 3% for Australia/New Zealand and 3.5% for Latin American 
(Chile, Peru and Central America) and Asian (India, Singapore and Malaysia) countries to reflect the higher 
growth prospects for the latter.

The cash flows are discounted at the average weighted cost of capital. Depending on the countries involved, 
the pre-tax weighted average cost of capital ranged between 8.5% and 15%, in line with previous years. 
The cost of equity component for developed economies is based on a risk-free rate and an equity risk premium. 
For emerging economies, a country risk premium is added. The cost of debt component for both types of 
economies reflects the estimated long-term cost of funding in the corresponding economies.

The results of the impairment test are sensitive to the assumptions used. An increase of 1% in the weighted 
average cost of capital would not result in a significant impairment loss.
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14. Property, plant and equipment
2018 2017

(in € thousand)
Land & 

buildings

Plant, 
machinery & 

equipment Other

Under 
construction 

& advance 
payments Total Total

Cost or deemed cost

As at 1 January 629,960 1,419,691 108,273 68,695 2,226,619 2,245,344

Changes in the consolidation scope & Asset deals - - - - - (6,628)

- Acquisitions - - - - - 23

- Deconsolidation - - - - - (6,651)

Acquisitions 6,366 28,151 3,792 44,526 82,834 108,390

Disposals & retirements (5,103) (22,107) (4,590) (1,331) (33,130) (26,772)

Transfers (3,465) (2,271) 1,878 (43,247) (47,105) (2,162)

Exchange difference (10,166) (22,664) (810) (1,119) (34,757) (91,552)

As at 31 December 617,593 1,400,801 108,543 67,524 2,194,462 2,226,619

Depreciation and impairment losses

As at 1 January (229,318) (1,054,936) (86,424) 290 (1,370,388) (1,357,474)

Changes in the consolidation scope - - - - - 5,178

- Deconsolidation - - - - - 5,178

Charge for the period (15,016) (69,720) (7,704) 1 (92,440) (94,939)

- Depreciation (15,023) (68,883) (7,702) - (91,609) (94,208)

- Impairment (recognised) / reversed 8 (837) (2) 1 (831) (731)

Disposals & retirements 3,467 20,793 4,356 - 28,616 25,544

Transfers (380) 26,468 2,266 (439) 27,915 1,745

Exchange difference 2,495 14,865 571 (8) 17,922 49,558

As at 31 December (238,752) (1,062,531) (86,934) (157) (1,388,375) (1,370,388)

Carrying amount at the end of the period 378,841 338,271 21,609 67,367 806,087 856,231

Carrying amount at the end of the previous 
period

400,642 364,755 21,849 68,985 856,231 887,869

Of which:

Leased assets at the end of the period 1,853 243 673 5 2,774 3,258

Leased assets at the end of the previous period 2,057 325 809 67 3,258 3,817

In 2018, the transfers mainly relate to assets considered as assets held for sale for the expected divestment of 
Rheinhütte Pumpen.

Management considers that residual values of depreciable property, plant and equipment are insignificant.

The total acquisition of property, plant and equipment excluding leasing amounts to € 82.7 million.

Leased assets principally consist of buildings and machinery. During 2018, new leased assets were acquired for 
a total amount of € 0.1 million (2017: € 0.3 million).

The disposal and retirement flows include the reversals of the fully depreciated tangible fixed assets both at 
the level of the gross book values and of the impairment values. 
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15. Investment properties
(in € thousand) 2018 2017

Cost

As at 1 January 12,570 13,193

Acquisitions - 31

Transfers (3,250) -

Exchange difference 94 (654)

Exchange difference 9,414 12,570

Depreciation and impairment losses

As at 1 January (6,904) (7,011)

Charge for the period (125) (258)

- Depreciation (125) (258)

Transfers 1,119 -

Exchange difference (60) 365

As at 31 December (5,971) (6,904)

Carrying amount as at 31 December 3,443 5,665

Investment property comprises 2 commercial properties which are leased (in whole or in part) to third parties. 
The fair value, based on external valuation report, of those investment properties is categorized as level 3 and 
is estimated at € 6.6 million (2017: € 9.0 million).

In 2018, investment properties in Switzerland and Aliaxis Services have been transferred to land and buildings 
for € 1 million each.
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16. Assets-held-for-sale
Aliaxis SA has signed end of February 2019 an agreement to divest Rheinhütte Pumpen to ITT Inc. The transaction 
is expected to close in the second quarter of 2019, and is subject to customary closing conditions, including 
appropriate regulatory approvals.

The assets and liabilities of Rheinhütte Pumpen were considered and classified in 2018 as Assets- 
and Liabilities-held-for-sale.

Transfer to assets held for sale:

As at 31 December (in € thousand) 2018 Transfer A/L HFS

Intangible assets and goodwill 334 (334) -

Property, plant & equipment 16,510 (16,510) -

Other assets (733) 733 -

Deferred tax assets 57 (57) -

Non-current assets 16,168 (16,168) -

Inventories 11,768 (11,768) -

Current tax assets 98 (98) -

Amounts receivable 12,546 (12,546) -

Cash & cash equivalents 1,202 (1,202) -

Assets held for sale 41,782 41,782

Current assets 25,614 16,168 41,782

Intercompany eliminations 8,937 - 8,937

TOTAL ASSETS 50,720 - 50,720
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Transfer to liabilities held for sale:

As at 31 December (in € thousand) 2018 Transfer A/L HFS

Retained earnings and reserves (28,646) (28,646)

TOTAL EQUITY (28,646) - (28,646)

Employee benefits 1,097 (1,097) -

Deferred tax liabilities 6 (6) -

Non-current liabilities 1,103 (1,103) -

Bank overdrafts 8 (8) -

Provisions 674 (674) -

Current tax liabilities 29 (29) -

Amounts payable 6,425 (6,425) -

Liabilities held for sale 8,239 8,239

Current liabilities 7,136 1,103 8,239

TOTAL LIABILITIES 8,239 - 8,239

Intercompany eliminations 71,126 - 71,126

TOTAL EQUITY & LIABILITIES 50,720 - 50,720

17. Inventories
As at 31 December (in € thousand) 2018 2017

Stock in transit 24,312 27,359

Raw materials, packaging materials and consumables 100,077 92,831

Components 25,875 32,773

Work in progress 13,353 14,121

Finished goods 315,325 287,242

Goods purchased for resale 67,822 57,677

Inventories, net of write-down 546,763 512,003

The total write-down of inventories amounts to € 28.8 million at 31 December 2018 (2017: € 32.4 million).

The cost of write-downs recognised in profit or loss (Cost of sales) during the period amounted to € 4.3 million 
(2017: € 8.4 million).
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18. Amounts receivable
As at 31 December (in € thousand) Notes 2018 2017

Trade receivables - gross 27 343,810 355,305

Impairment losses 27 (16,163) (16,349)

Trade receivables 327,646 338,956

Taxes (other than income tax) receivable 26,091 23,595

Other 27,774 27,540

Other amount receivable 53,865 51,135

Amounts receivable 381,512 390,092

Information about the Group exposure to credit market risk and impairment losses on amounts receivable is 
included in Note 27.

19. Cash and cash equivalents
As at 31 December (in € thousand) 2018 2017

Short term bank deposits 256,575 210,494

Bank balances 129,483 106,393

Cash 399 474

Cash & cash equivalents 386,458 317,361

Bank overdrafts (12,836) (12,975)

Cash & cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 373,622 304,386

Short-term deposits are held with counterparties which have a robust credit rating, with maturities of 3 months 
or less, and remunerated at money market rates floored at 0%. 

Most significant amounts are denominated in CAD, USD, EUR and GBP.

20. Equity
Share capital and share premium

The share capital and share premium of the Company as of 31 December 2018 amount to € 76.0 million (2017: € 
76.0 million), represented by 91,135,065 fully paid ordinary shares without par value (2017: 91,135,065).

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared and have one vote per share at 
Shareholders’ Meetings of the Company. 
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Hedging reserve

Hedging reserves as presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity include as well the Cash 
flow hedging reserves as the Cost of hedging reserve. Note 27 provides further details regarding this breakdown 
and the related restatement of last year. 

The Cash flow hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the accumulated net change in the fair value 
of cash flow hedge instruments for a total negative amount of € 9.3 million (2017: € 9.9 million). At the end of 
2018, the Cost of hedging reserves amounts to € 0.4 million. Net of tax, the hedging reserves amount to a total 
negative amount of € 6.3 million.

Reserve for own shares

At 31 December 2018, the Group held 12,395,164 of the Company’s shares (2017: 12,409,664).

During 2018, Group personnel exercised 264,250 share options related to the 2008 Share Options Plan, 12,500 
share options related to the 2011 Share Options Plan, 5,000 share options related to the 2012 share options 
plan and 76,500 share options related to the 2013 Share Options Plan granted by the Group (see Note 23c).

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the finan-
cial statements of foreign entities of the Group as well as from the translation of liabilities that hedge the 
Company’s net investment in a foreign operation and the translation impacts resulting from net investment 
hedges. The negative change in the translation reserve during 2018 amounts to € 26.1 million, mainly due to the 
weakening of some major trading currencies against the EUR at year end rate, such as the Canadian dollar (4%) 
and the Australian dollar (6%), partly offset by the strengthening of the United States dollar (4.5%).

In 2017, the negative change in the translation reserve amounted to € -98.3 million, due to the weakening of 
the major trading currencies against the EUR at year end rate, mainly the Canadian dollar (6%) and the United 
States dollar (14%).

Dividends

In 2018, an amount of € 48.6 million was declared and paid as dividends by Aliaxis (a gross dividend of € 0.5335 
per share). Excluding the portion attributable to treasury shares, the amount was € 42.0 million.

An amount of € 53.5 million (a gross dividend of € 0.58685 per share) is proposed by the directors to be declared 
and paid as dividend for the current year. Excluding the portion attributable to treasury shares, the amount is 
€ 46.2 million. This dividend has not been provided for.

Non-controlling interests

The Non-controlling interests amount of € 7.3 million, decreased by € 64.1 million compared to last year mainly 
due to the acquisition of the minority stake held in Ashirvad Pipes in 2018.
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21. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to equity holders of Aliaxis of € 
137.1 million (2017: € 143.2 million) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
year net of treasury shares, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares, net of treasury shares
(in thousand of shares) 2018 2017

Issued ordinary shares 91,135 91,135

Treasury shares (12,410) (12,353)

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January, net of treasury shares 78,725 78,782

Effect of treasury shares sold / (acquired) during the period 7 (24)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December, net of treasury shares 78,733 78,758

Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to equity holders of Aliaxis of 
€ 137.1 million (2017: € 143.2 million) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the year net of treasury shares and after adjustment for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, 
calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted), net of treasury shares
(in thousand of shares) 2018 2017

Weighted average number of ordinary shares, net of treasury shares (basic) 78,733 78,758

Effect of share options 20 66

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December (diluted), net of treasury shares 78,752 78,824
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22. Loans and borrowings
As at 31 December (in € thousand) 2018 2017

Non-current

Secured bank loans 2,386 9,660

Unsecured bank loans, Schuldschein & other 831,795 294,596

US private placements 243,378 233,176

Deferred arrangement fees (1,719) (1,466)

Finance lease liabilities 2,740 3,295

Non-current loans and borrowings 1,078,580 539,260

Current

Secured bank loans 23,335 42,140

Unsecured bank loans, Schuldschein & other 46,924 49,752

US private placements - 30,851

Deferred arrangement fees (1,266) (841)

Finance lease liabilities 604 620

Other (loans) and borrowings 172 (0)

Current loans and borrowings 69,770 122,523

Loans and borrowings 1,148,350 661,783

The breakdown of the changes of loans and borrowings into cash flows and non-cash changes can be detailed 
as follows:

Cash Flows Non-cash changes

As at 31 December (in € thousand) 2017 In Out Transfer
FX 

impact
FV 

Changes Leasing 2018

Non-current

Secured bank loans 9,660 13,915 - (20,981) (208) 2,386

Unsecured bank loans, Schuldschein & other 294,596 561,559 (16,063) (779) (7,518) 831,795

US private placements 233,176 - 10,202 243,378

Deferred arrangement fees (1,466) (1,765) 1,453 18 41 (1,719)

Finance lease liabilities 3,295 (81) (519) (58) - 102 2,740

Non-current financial debt 539,260 575,474 (17,909) (20,825) 2,436 41 102 1,078,580

Current

Secured bank loans 42,140 - (37,715) 20,981 (2,071) 23,335

Unsecured bank loans, Schuldschein & other 49,752 52,876 (57,290) 769 817 46,924

US private placements 30,851 (31,559) 708 0

Deferred arrangement fees (841) (1,453) 16 1,012 (1,266)

Finance lease liabilities 620 (577) 519 10 - 32 604

Other loans and borrowings 175 (12) 10 172

Current loans and borrowings 122,523 53,052 (127,154) 20,825 (520) 1,012 32 69,770

Loans and borrowings 661,783 628,525 (145,062) 0 1,916 1,053 134 1,148,350
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In July 2011, the Group entered into the US Private Placement (USPP) market by issuing notes for a total amount 
of USD 260 million in 3 tranches:

 • USD 37 million at 4.26% maturing in 2018
 • USD 111 million at 4.94% maturing in 2021
 • USD 112 million at 5.09% maturing in 2023

In July 2015, the Group entered into the USPP market by issuing notes for approximately USD 55 million in 
2 tranches:

 • USD 35 million at 4.26% maturing in 2025
 • EUR 18 million at 2.64% maturing in 2027

Subsequently, the Group entered for USD 258 million into cross currency swaps in order to maintain a diversified 
source of funding in terms of maturities, currencies and interest rates.

In July 2015 also, the Group entered into the Schuldschein (SSD) market by issuing certificates for a total amount 
of EUR 120 million in 4 tranches:

 • EUR 25 million at 1.558% maturing in 2020
 • EUR 28 million at floating rate maturing in 2020
 • EUR 40 million at 2.13% maturing in 2022
 • EUR 27 million at floating rate maturing in 2022

Simultaneously, the Group refinanced its syndicated bank debt by entering into a 5 year (with two possible one 
year extensions) committed multi-currency revolving credit facility of € 680 million between Aliaxis Finance/Aliaxis 
North America/Aliaxis Holding Australia and a syndicate of banks. The borrowing rate is based on a short-term 
interest rate plus margin. The management of interest rate risk is described in Note 27.

In June 2016, the syndicated loan maturity was extended by one year for the total amount of € 680 million with 
maturity fixed at July 2021.

In June 2017, the syndicated loan maturity was extended by an additional one year for the amount of 
€ 631 million, with final maturity now fixed at July 2022.

In May 2018, the Group entered into a Club Deal multi-currency bank facility of EUR 400 Million maturing in 
July 2022 made up of a EUR 200 million amortizing Term Loan Tranche (EUR 50 million repayment in July 2020 
and EUR 50 million repayment in July 2021), and a EUR 200 million bullet Revolving Tranche. In both tranches, 
the borrowing rate is based on a short-term interest rate plus margin. The management of interest rate risk is 
described in Note 27.

At 31 December 2018, € 303 million of the syndicated facility was drawn (2017: € 164 million).

These USPP and SSD programs together with the Syndicated loan and the Club deal bank facility are unsecured, 
subject to covenants (including, inter alia, financial covenants based on interest cover and leverage ratios) and under-
takings standard for this type of financing, and were not subject to any breach of covenants as at 31 December 2018.

Other facilities of Aliaxis Finance S.A. and other subsidiaries of the Group include a number of additional bilateral 
and multilateral credit facilities.
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The terms and conditions of significant loans and borrowings were as follows:

2018 2017

As at 31 December (in € thousand) Curr.
Nominal 

interest rate
Year of 

maturity Face value
Carrying 
amount Face value

Carrying 
amount

Secured bank loans

EUR Euribor + margins 2019 1,100 1,100 1,100 1,100

USD 8.40% 2019 5,314 5,314 13,198 13,198

INR 8.00% - 9.20% 2019-2020 19,307 19,307 37,502 37,502

Unsecured syndication bank facility

CAD Cdor + 0.45% 2022 6,408 6,408 6,649 6,649

EUR Euribor + 0.45% 2022 130,000 130,000 - -

USD Libor + 0.45% 2022 32,314 32,314 - -

AUD Interbank + 
0.45%

2022 133,785 133,785 157,044 157,044

Unsecured “Club deal”  bank facility

EUR Euribor + 0.40% 2022 200,000 200,000 - -

EUR Euribor + 0.60% 2022 200,000 200,000 - -

Other unsecured bank facility

HNL 12% 2019 232 232 456 456

CZK 2% 2019 297 297 366 366

COP 7.40%-8.60% 2019 3,370 3,370 2,654 2,654

CLP 4.60%-6.70% 2019-2021 5,461 5,461 11,181 11,181

MXN 8.37% 2019 14,040 14,040 17,449 17,449

PEN 3.80%-4.20% 2019 3,068 3,068 5,416 5,416

USD 4% 2019 1,528 1,528 13,078 13,078

MYR 5% 2019-2020 8,378 8,378 8,148 8,148

NZD - - 1,187 1,187

EUR Euribor + margins 2019 20,600 20,600 1,260 1,260

Schuldschein

EUR Euribor + 1.10% 2020 28,000 28,000 28,000 28,000

EUR 1.558% 2020 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

EUR Euribor + 1.40% 2022 27,000 27,000 27,000 27,000

EUR 2.13% 2022 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000

US private placements

USD - - 30,851 30,851

USD 4.94% 2021 96,943 96,943 92,554 92,554

USD 5.09% 2023 97,817 97,817 93,388 93,388

USD 4.26% 2025 30,568 30,568 29,184 29,184

EUR 2.64% 2027 18,051 18,051 18,051 18,051

Others (1) (232) (232) 1,066 1,066

Total loans and borrowings 1,148,350 1,148,350 661,783 661,783

(1) Other interest-bearing loans and borrowings include loans, finance lease liabilities and deferred arrangement fees in many different currencies 

at both fixed and floating rates.
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The debt repayment schedule is as follows:

(in € thousand) Total 1 year or less 1-2 years 2-5 years >5 years

Secured bank loans 25,721 23,335 2,386 - -

Unsecured bank loans, Schuldschein & other 878,719 46,924 814,795 17,000 -

US private placements 243,378 - - 194,760 48,618

Deferred arrangement fees (2,985) (1,266) (1,402) (318) -

Finance lease liabilities 3,344 604 1,333 375 1,032

Other loans and borrowings 172 172 0 - -

Total as at 31 December 1,148,350 69,770 817,112 211,817 49,651

 
The finance lease liabilities are as follows:

2018 2017

(in € thousand)
Minimum lease 

payments Interest Principal
Minimum lease 

payments Interest Principal

Less than 1 year 759 155 604 797 177 620

Between 1 and 5 years 2,046 338 1,708 2,632 437 2,195

More than 5 years 1,449 416 1,032 1,582 482 1,101

Total as at 31 December 4,254 910 3,344 5,011 1,095 3,916

23. Employee benefits
Aliaxis maintains benefit plans such as retirement and medical care plans, termination plans and other long-
term benefit plans in several countries in which the Group operates. In addition, the Group also has share-based 
payment plans and a long-term incentive scheme.

The Group operates a number of defined benefit and defined contribution plans throughout the world, the 
assets of which are generally held in separate trustee-administered funds. The pension plans are generally 
funded by payments from employees and the company. Aliaxis maintains funded and unfunded pension plans.

(a) Defined contribution plans

For defined contribution plans, the Group companies pay contributions to pension funds or insurance companies.

Once the contributions have been paid, the Group companies have no further payment obligation. The regular 
contributions constitute an expense for the period in which they are due. In 2018, the defined contribution plan 
expenses for the Group amounted to € 15.7 million (2017: € 15.8 million).
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(b) Defined benefit plans

Aliaxis reports on a total of 64 defined benefit plans over 2018, which provide the following benefits:

Retirement benefits: 45

Long service awards: 15

Termination benefits: 1

Medical benefits: 3

All the plans have been established in accordance with common practice and legal requirements in each 
relevant country. 

The retirement defined benefit plans generally provide a benefit related to years of service and rates of pay 
close to retirement. 

The retirement benefit plans in Australia, Belgium, India, Switzerland and the UK are separately funded through 
external insurance contracts or pension funds legally separate from the Group. There are both funded and 
unfunded plans in Canada, Germany and France.

The funding requirements are stipulated in the insurance contract or, in the case of pension funds, based on 
the pension fund’s actuarial measurement framework set out in the funding policies of the plan, and comply 
with the local minimum funding requirements. For two plans in Canada a recovery contribution plan is in place 
in order to attain the minimum funding requirements.

The retirement benefit plans in Italy, Austria and New Zealand are unfunded.

The termination benefit plans consist of early retirement plans in Germany. 

The medical plans provide medical benefits after retirement to former employees in France, the US and the UK. 

The long service awards are granted in Australia, Austria, Germany, India, New Zealand and France.

Belgian defined contribution plans require the employer to guarantee a minimum return on the contributions 
paid by both employer and employee. This exposes the company to an underfinancing risk, depending on the 
actual investment return on the assets and the evolution of legal minimum guarantee. These plans are fully 
treated as defined benefit plans for IFRS purposes.  

These defined benefit plans expose the Group to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, currency risk, interest 
rate risk and market (investment) risk.

The Group has more than one defined benefit plan in place and has generally provided aggregated disclosures 
in respect of these plans, on the basis that these plans are not exposed to materially different risks.
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The Group’s net liability for retirement, medical, termination and other long-term benefit plans comprises the 
following at 31 December:

2018 2017

(in € thousand)

Retirement 
and medical 

plans

Termination 
benefits 
& other 

long-term 
benefits TOTAL

Retirement 
and medical 

plans

Termination 
benefits 
& other 

long-term 
benefits TOTAL

Defined benefit obligations for funded plans 259,849 - 259,849 294,126 - 294,126

Fair value of plan assets (283,037) - (283,037) (306,839) - (306,839)

Funded status for funded plans (23,188) - (23,188) (12,713) - (12,713)

Defined benefit obligations for unfunded 
plans

51,617 10,539 62,156 55,940 11,205 67,145

Total funded status at 31 December 28,428 10,539 38,967 43,228 11,205 54,433

Irrecoverable asset at end of year 1,324 - 1,324 1,160 - 1,160

Net liability as at 31 December 29,753 10,539 40,292 44,387 11,205 55,592

Liabilities 64,691 10,539 75,230 72,296 11,205 83,501

Assets (34,938) - (34,938) (27,909) - (27,909)

Net liability as at 31 December 29,753 10,539 40,292 44,387 11,205 55,592

Current liabilities 8,790 867 9,657 8,753 765 9,518

Non-current liabilities 20,963 9,672 30,635 35,634 10,440 46,074

The Net liability amounts reported in this note do not take into account the transfer of € 1.1 million to the Liabilities 
held for sale (see note 16).

The movements in the net liability for defined benefit obligations recognised in the statement of financial position 
at 31 December are as follows:

2018 2017

(in € thousand)

Retirement 
and medical 

plans

Termination 
benefits 
& other 

long-term 
benefits TOTAL

Retirement 
and medical 

plans

Termination 
benefits 
& other 

long-term 
benefits TOTAL

As at 1 January 44,387 11,205 55,592 47,477 11,585 59,062

Employer contributions (7,847) (1,216) (9,063) (8,320) (1,093) (9,413)

Expense recognised in the income statement 5,054 886 5,940 5,436 1,170 6,606

Amount recognised in other comprehensive 
income

(11,719) - (11,719) 4 - 4

Exchange difference (122) (336) (458) (210) (456) (666)

As at 31 December 29,753 10,539 40,292 44,387 11,205 55,592

The Net liability amounts reported in this note do not take into account the transfer of € 1.1 million to the Liabilities 
held for sale (see note 16).
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The changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows:

2018 2017

(in € thousand)

Retirement 
and medical 

plans

Termination 
benefits 
& other 

long-term 
benefits TOTAL

Retirement 
and medical 

plans

Termination 
benefits 
& other 

long-term 
benefits TOTAL

As at 1 January 350,066 11,205 361,271 360,206 11,585 371,790

Current service cost 3,827 1,037 4,864 4,122 1,325 5,447

Employee contributions 440 - 440 414 - 414

Interest cost 7,592 86 7,678 8,188 88 8,276

Actuarial (gains)/losses on liabilities arising from 
changes in financial assumptions

(16,792) (77) (16,869) 7,888 (187) 7,702

Actuarial (gains)/losses on liabilities arising from 
changes in demographic assumptions

(7,104) 133 (6,972) 162 1 163

Actuarial (gains)/losses on liabilities arising from 
experience

(790) 53 (737) (270) (57) (327)

Settlement and past service cost (incl. 
curtailment)

(9) (345) (354) (172) - (172)

Benefits paid (23,476) (1,216) (24,692) (18,530) (1,093) (19,623)

Exchange difference (2,287) (336) (2,623) (11,943) (456) (12,399)

As at 31 December 311,465 10,539 322,005 350,066 11,205 361,271

The changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

2018 2017

(in € thousand)

Retirement 
and medical 

plans

Termination 
benefits 
& other 

long-term 
benefits TOTAL

Retirement 
and medical 

plans

Termination 
benefits 
& other 

long-term 
benefits TOTAL

As at 1 January (306,839) - (306,839) (313,793) - (313,793)

Interest income (7,127) - (7,127) (7,653) - (7,653)

Employer contributions (7,847) (1,216) (9,063) (8,320) (1,093) (9,413)

Employee contributions (440) - (440) (414) - (414)

Benefits paid (direct & indirect, including taxes on 

contributions paid) 23,476 1,216 24,692 18,530 1,093 19,623

Return on assets, excl. interest income 12,793 - 12,793 (7,906) - (7,906)

Actual administration expenses 740 - 740 920 - 920

Exchange difference 2,206 - 2,206 11,797 - 11,797

As at 31 December (283,037) - (283,037) (306,839) - (306,839)

During 2018, the net defined benefit liability has decreased by € 15.3 million from € 55.6 million to € 40.3 million. 
This was primarily due to changes in assumptions. Mainly the increase of discount rate from 2.16% to 2.43% led to 
the decrease of defined benefit obligation by € 16.8 million, while the change in mortality assumptions in UK let to 
a further decrease by € 7.1 million. This was offset by the decrease observed from assets by € 12.8 million, mostly 
due to lower than expected investment return in UK pension schemes. The liability also decreased because total 
contributions were higher than the expense. The total contributions amounted to € 9.5 million (2017: € 9.8 million) 
of which € 9.1 million was contributed by the employer (2017: € 9.4 million) and € 0.4 million was contributed by 
the employees (2017: € 0.4 million). Furthermore, a total of € 24.7 million benefits was paid out (2017: € 19.6 million).

As a result, the funded position, i.e. the ratio of assets to the defined benefit obligation, has increased from 
85% to 88%.

The Group expects to contribute approximately € 7.5 million to its defined benefit plans in 2019.
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2018

(in € thousand)
Retirement and 

medical plans

Termination benefits 
& other long-term 

benefits TOTAL
Expected employer contributions 6,654 867 7,521
Expected employee contributions 445 - 445
Expected benefits paid (direct & indirect) 8,790 867 9,657

The expense (income) recognised in the statement of comprehensive income with regard to defined benefit 
plans can be detailed as follows:

2018 2017

(in € thousand)

Retirement 
and medical 

plans

Termination 
benefits 
& other 

long-term 
benefits TOTAL

Retirement 
and medical 

plans

Termination 
benefits 
& other 

long-term 
benefits TOTAL

Service cost:

Current service cost 3,827 1,037 4,864 4,122 1,325 5,447

Past service cost (incl. curtailments) 1,757 - 1,757 (9) - (9)

Settlement cost (1,766) (345) (2,111) (163) - (163)

Administration expenses 740 - 740 920 - 920

Net interest cost:

Interest cost 7,592 86 7,678 8,188 88 8,276

Interest income (7,127) - (7,127) (7,653) - (7,653)

Interest on asset ceiling 32 - 32 31 - 31

Remeasurements

Actuarial (gains)/losses due to changes in 
financial assumptions

- (77) (77) - (187) (187)

Actuarial (gains)/losses due to changes in 
demographic assumptions

- 133 133 - 1 1

Actuarial (gains)/losses due to experience - 53 53 - (57) (57)

Pension expense recognised in profit and loss 5,054 886 5,940 5,436 1,170 6,606

Remeasurements in other comprehensive income

Return on plan assets (in excess of)/below that 
recognised in net interest

12,793 - 12,793 (7,906) - (7,906)

Actuarial (gains)/losses due to changes in 
financial assumptions

(16,792) - (16,792) 7,888 - 7,888

Actuarial (gains)/losses due to changes in 
demographic assumptions

(7,104) - (7,104) 162 - 162

Actuarial (gains)/losses due to experience (790) - (790) (270) - (270)

Adjustments due to the limit in paragraph 64, 
excl. amounts recognised in net interest

174 - 174 129 - 129

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive 
income

(11,719) - (11,719) 4 - 4

Total amount recognised in profit and loss and 
other comprehensive income

(6,665) 886 (5,779) 5,440 1,170 6,610
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The employee benefit expense is included in the following line items of the statement of comprehensive income:

(in € thousand) 2018 2017

Cost of sales 1,928 1,820

Commercial expenses 684 642

Administrative expenses 2,954 3,965

R&D expenses 90 160

Restructuring 265 -

Other operating income / (expenses) 19 18

Total at 31 December 5,940 6,606

The principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages) can be summarised 
as follows:

2018 2017

Discount rate as at 31 December 2.43% 2.16%

Rate of salary increases 2.22% 2.31%

Inflation 2.82% 2.87%

Initial medical trend rate 4.97% 5.35%

Ultimate medical trend rate 4.26% 4.25%

Pension increase rate 2.64% 2.70%

The discount rate and the salary increase rate have been weighted by the defined benefit obligation.

The medical trend rate has been weighted by the defined benefit obligation of those plans paying pensions 
rather than by lump sums on retirement.

At 31 December, the plan assets are broken down into the following categories according to the asset portfolios 
weighted by the amount of assets:

2018 2017

Government bonds 38.88% 33.68%

Corporate bonds 2.64% 2.31%

Equity instruments 5.64% 5.39%

Insurance contracts 36.53% 35.95%

Property 1.42% 1.21%

Cash 1.42% 3.32%

Other 13.48% 18.14%

100.00% 100.00%

The percentage in “Other” relates to UK assets that were invested for 16% in a diversified growth fund at 
December 31, 2018. The investment strategy of this fund was 37% in diversifying strategies, 22% in equities, 24% 
in bonds and 17% in real estate.
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The plan assets do not include investments in the Group’s own shares or in property occupied by the Group.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation (this is the average term of the benefit pay-
ments weighted for their size) is 18.7 years.

At 31 December, the weighted average life expectancy is as follow:

Man Woman

Of a 65-year old 22.2 24.0

Of a 45-year old at the age of retirement 24.0 25.8

The total defined benefit obligation amounts to € 322.0 million and can be split as follows between active 
members, members with deferred benefit entitlements and pensioners: 

2018 2017

(in € thousand)

Retirement 
and medical 

plans

Termination 
benefits & 

other long-
term benefits TOTAL

Retirement 
and medical 

plans

Termination 
benefits & 

other long-
term benefits TOTAL

Active members 66,567 10,539 77,106 70,973 11,205 82,178

Members with deferred benefit 
entitlements

117,100 - 117,100 140,969 - 140,969

Pensioners/Beneficiaries 127,461 - 127,461 137,524 - 137,524

Taxes relating to past service benefits 337 - 337 601 - 601

As at 31 December 311,465 10,539 322,005 350,066 11,205 361,271

A 0.25 percentage point change in the assumed discount rate and inflation rate would have the following effect 
on the defined benefit obligation:

(in € thousand) 2018 2017

Current defined benefit obligation at 31 December 322,005 361,271

% increase following a 0,25% decrease in the discount rate 4.63% 4.79%

% decrease following a 0,25% increase in the discount rate (4.32%) (4.5%)

% increase following a 0,25% increase in the inflation rate 2.09% 2.22%

The defined benefit obligation of post-employment medical plans amounts to € 2.3 million.  A one percent-
age point increase or decrease in the assumed health-care trend (i.e. medical inflation) rate would have the 
following effect:

(in € thousand) 2018 2017

Current defined benefit obligation at 31 December for Post Retirement Medical Plans 2,347 2,679

  Effect on the aggregate of the service cost and the interest cost of a 1% increase 1 0

  Effect on the defined benefit obligation of a 1% increase 19 19

  Effect on the aggregate of the service cost and the interest cost of a 1% decrease (0) (0)

  Effect on the defined benefit obligation of a 1% decrease (18) (17)

For plans where a full valuation has been performed, the sensitivity information shown above is exact and based 
on the results of this full valuation. For plans where results have been rolled forward from the last full actuarial 
valuation, the sensitivity information above is approximate and takes into account the duration of the liabilities 
and the overall profile of the plan membership.



Notes to the consolidated financial statements96

(c) Share-based payments 

On 23 June 2004, Aliaxis approved a share option program entitling key management personnel and senior 
employees to purchase shares of the Company and authorising the issuance of up to 3,250,000 options to be 
granted annually over a period of 5 years. Five Stock Option Plans were accordingly granted on 5 July 2004 
(SOP 2004), 4 July 2005 (SOP 2005), 3 July 2006 (SOP 2006), 4 July 2007 (SOP 2007) and 8 July 2008 (SOP 
2008) respectively. 

One share option gives the beneficiary the right to buy one ordinary share of the Company. The vesting period 
is four years after the grant date, and the options can be exercised subsequently during a period of three years 
with one exercise period per year. Options are to be settled by the physical delivery of shares using the treasury 
shares held by Aliaxis (see Note 20).

Each beneficiary is also granted a put option, as long as the Group remains unlisted, whereby Aliaxis shares 
acquired under these plans can be sold back to the Group at a price to be determined at each put exercise 
period. The put exercise periods run in parallel with the exercise periods of each plan.

At each grant/exercise date, Aliaxis determines the fair value of the shares by applying market multiples derived 
from a representative sample of listed companies to its last annual financial performance.

During 2018, 264,250 share options were exercised regarding the Share Option Plan 2008.

On 23 April 2009, Aliaxis decided to propose to all share option holders under the Aliaxis share option plans 
2005 to 2008, that the exercise period under these plans be extended for three years, as permitted by an 
amendment to the law of 26 March 1999.

The exercise period of the SOP 2005 to 2008 has consequently been extended by 3 years for the holders who 
agreed to the proposed extension.

On 24 June 2009, Aliaxis approved a new share option program on the same basis as the previous share option 
scheme but limited to Group Senior Executives. Options will be available for granting over a maximum of 5 years. 
Five Stock Option Plans were accordingly granted on 7 July 2009 (SOP 2009), 6 July 2010 (SOP 2010), 4 July 2011 
(SOP 2011), 5 July 2012 (SOP 2012) and 8 July 2013 (SOP 2013).  

In June 2018, Group personnel exercised 12,500 share options related to the 2011 Share Option Plan,  5,000 
share options were exercised regarding the Share Option Plan 2012 and 76,500 share options were exercised 
regarding the Share Option Plan 2013.

No new Stock Option Plan was granted during 2018.

The total value of the share options exercised in 2018 at exercise or call price amounts to € 6.6 million. Their value 
at put price amounts to € 7.9 million.



Notes to the consolidated financial statements 97

Details of these stock option plans are as follows:

Number of share options

Date granted
Exercise  

price (in €) Granted Exercised Forfeited Outstanding

Exercise 
periods                   
1 June -  
20 June

SOP 2004 05.07.2004 9.19 647,500 631,030 16,470 - 2008 - 2011

SOP 2005 04.07.2005 12.08 617,000 586,590 30,410 - 2009 - 2015

SOP 2006 03.07.2006 18.35 594,000 513,786 80,214 - 2010 - 2016

SOP 2007 04.07.2007 26.82 610,000 458,000 152,000 - 2011 - 2017

SOP 2008 08.07.2008 16.25 557,250 367,955 189,295 - 2012 - 2018

SOP 2009 07.07.2009 12.93 266,000 266,000 - - 2013 - 2016 (*)

SOP 2010 06.07.2010 14.74 253,000 253,000 - - 2014 - 2017 (*)

SOP 2011 04.07.2011 20.15 133,000 133,000 - - 2015 - 2018 (*)

SOP 2012 05.07.2012 14.50 138,000 130,500 - 7,500 2016 - 2019 (*)

SOP 2013 08.07.2013 25.39 195,000 152,500 12,500 30,000 2017 - 2020 (*)

4,010,750 3,492,361 480,889 37,500

(*) from 1 June - 30 June

The number and weighted average exercise price of share options are as follows:

2018 2017

Number of share 
options

Weighted average exercise 
price per option (in €)

Number of share 
options

Weighted average 
exercise price per  

option (in €)

Outstanding as at 1 January 418,250 18.91 589,105 19.51

Movements of the period:

Options exercised 358,250 18.31 147,355 21.70

Options forfeited 22,500 15.28 23,500 16.25

Outstanding as at 31 December 37,500 26.84 418,250 18.91

Exercisable as at 31 December 37,500 26.84 418,250 18.91

The fair value of the services received in return for share options granted is based on the fair value of share 
options granted, measured using the Black & Scholes valuation model, with the following assumptions:

Fair value and 
assumptions SOP 2013 SOP 2012 SOP 2011 SOP 2010 SOP 2009 SOP 2008 SOP 2007 SOP 2006 SOP 2005

Fair value at grant date (in 
€ per option)

4.21 2.08 4.05 2.59 2.41 4.02 7.13 4.39 2.39

Share price (in €) 25.39 14.5 20.15 14.74 12.93 16.25 26.82 18.35 12.08

Exercise price (in €) 25.39 14.5 20.15 14.74 12.93 16.25 26.82 18.35 12.08

Expected volatility (in %) 20.00 20.00 20.00 20.00 20.00 20.00 20.00 21.00 21.00

Expected option average 
life (in years)

5.50 5.50 5.50 5.50 5.50 5.50 5.50 5.50 5.50

Expected dividends (in €) 0.25 0.23 0.20 0.18 0.17 0.16 0.14 0.12 0.11

Risk-free interest rate (in %) 1.19 1.13 2.86 2.12 2.82 4.89 4.84 4.08 2.76

The expected volatility percentage is based on the historical volatility which is observed for comparable com-
panies in Belgium. Expected dividends take into account a 10% growth of the dividends paid during the year. 
The risk-free interest rate is based on the swap euro interest rate corresponding to the expected options’ 
average life. The vesting expectations are based on historical data of key management personnel turnover.
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Personnel expenses for share-based payments recorded in the statement of comprehensive income (see Note 9) 
are as follows:

(in € thousand) 2018 2017

SOP 2013 - 103

Share-based payments related expense - 103

(d) Long-term incentive scheme

In 2018, new awards of the Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) were granted to certain senior managers. The pay-out 
under this plan is conditional upon realization of a target value creation over a three year period. These man-
agers are provided with the opportunity to invest their cash pay-out into shares of a dedicated subsidiary, 
owning shares in Aliaxis SA.

In total, 98 individuals were granted benefits under the current plan and on the basis that targets are achieved, 
this would lead to payments at the end of the three-year cycle of € 7.2 million. The grant of this long-term 
incentive represents 31.0 % of the participants’ 2018 fixed salaries.

The provisions for LTIP recorded in the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018 amounts to € 11.2 million.
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24. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
The change in deferred tax assets and liabilities is as follows:

Assets Liabilities Net

(in € thousand) 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

As at 1 January 91,692 98,608 (134,210) (150,066) (42,518) (51,458)

Recognised in profit or loss (1,498) (1,852) 5,282 9,472 3,783 7,620

Recognised directly in OCI (1,286) (1,488) (1,253) 122 (2,539) (1,366)

Scope change - (678) - 96 - (582)

Other movements (51) - 0 0 (51) 0

Exchange difference (1,004) (2,898) 3,800 6,166 2,796 3,268

As at 31 December 87,853 91,692 (126,382) (134,210) (38,529) (42,518)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

Assets Liabilities Net

As at 31 December (in € thousand) 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Intangible assets 4,846 3,139 (52,562) (57,979) (47,716) (54,840)

Property, plant and equipment 7,964 7,099 (53,660) (55,679) (45,696) (48,579)

Inventories 6,870 7,647 (2,537) (2,152) 4,333 5,494

Post employment benefits 15,320 17,821 (5,801) (4,715) 9,519 13,107

Provisions 5,577 4,426 (92) (200) 5,485 4,225

Loans and borrowings 4 4 (690) (534) (685) (530)

Undistributed earnings - - (105) (589) (105) (589)

Other assets and liabilities 17,254 16,164 (10,934) (12,362) 6,320 3,801

Loss carry forwards 30,018 35,392 - - 30,018 35,392

Tax assets / (liabilities) 87,853 91,692 (126,382) (134,210) (38,529) (42,518)

Set-off of assets and liabilities (47,614) (51,645) 47,614 51,645 - -

Net tax assets / (liabilities) 40,239 40,047 (78,768) (82,566) (38,529) (42,518)

Tax losses carried forward on which no deferred tax asset is recognized amount to € 236 million (2017: 
€ 236 million). € 155 million of these tax losses do not have any expiration date. € 81 million will expire at the 
latest by the end of 2048. 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized on these tax losses available for carry forward because it is not 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which these tax losses can be used.
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25. Provisions
2018 2017

(in € thousand) Product liability Restructuring Other TOTAL TOTAL

As at 1 January 10,796 6,495 23,386 40,677 35,562

Change in consolidation scope - - - - (54)

Provisions created 6,565 12,168 7,456 26,189 22,691

Provisions used (3,713) (4,509) (5,106) (13,328) (10,824)

Provisions reversed (1,481) (256) (4,713) (6,450) (5,341)

Other movements (459) (0) (54) (513) 1,086

Exchange difference (237) (1,000) (364) (1,601) (2,443)

As at 31 December 11,472 12,897 20,605 44,973 40,677

Non-current balance at the end of the period 2,713 500 12,215 15,428 17,478

Current balance at the end of the period 8,759 12,397 8,389 29,545 23,199

The product liability provision provides a warranty for the products that the company sells or for the services it 
delivers. The provision has been estimated based on historical product liability associates with similar products 
and services. The group expects to settle the majority of the liability over the next year.

Provisions included in restructuring mainly relate to programs that are planned and controlled by Management 
and that generate material changes either in the scope of the business or in the manner of conducting the 
business. The restructuring costs were expensed as incurred and included in other operating income and 
expenses and non-recurring items.

Other provisions mainly include long-term incentive schemes obligations. See also Note 23d.
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26. Amounts payable

(a) Non-current other amounts payable
As at 31 December (in € thousand) 2018 2017

Other 35,573 3,413

Other amounts payable 35,573 3,413

(b) Current amounts payable

Information about the Group exposure to currency and liquidity risk is included in Note 27.

As at 31 December (in € thousand) 2018 2017

Trade payables 284,112 277,287

Payroll and social security payable 100,349 101,040

Taxes (other than income tax) payables 9,837 8,570

Interest payable 10,929 9,822

Put option - 108,282

Other payables 28,160 12,531

Amounts payable 433,387 517,532

In 2017 the Group recorded a debt (put option) to account for a put option that was granted in respect of a 
minority stake in Ashirvad Pipes Pvt. Ltd. This debt reflected an estimate of the pay-out by Aliaxis at the earliest 
exercise of the option by the counterparty (early 2018) discounted back to the balance sheet date. 

The minority shareholders of Ashirvad Pipes Pvt. Ltd. exercised their put option in 2018 and the Group acquired 
in July a further 37% stake in Ashirvad Pipes Pvt Ltd in addition to its 60% stake. Aliaxis agreed to purchase the 
remaining 3% over a three-year period (settlement of 1/3rd every year) and recorded in this respect a payable 
of € 50 million reported as Other Payables (see note 6).

27. Financial instruments

(a) Currency risk

Exposure

Currency risk arises from transactions and financial instruments that are denominated in a currency other than 
the functional currency in which they are measured.

The Group’s most significant exposure to foreign currency risk arises from trade sales and purchases denomi-
nated in USD, and from the USD denominated Private Placement.
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To mitigate the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange currency risk, cross currency swaps and foreign exchange 
forward contracts are entered into in accordance with the Group’s risk policy.

The following table sets out the Group’s total exposure to major foreign currency risk, based on notional amounts, 
and the net FX exposure for those currencies.

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

(in thousand of currency) EUR USD CAD GBP AUD NZD EUR USD CAD GBP AUD NZD

Trade and other 
receivables

12,400 112,218 155 1,855 1,301 441 9,153 108,661 223 3,460 2,285 65

Financial assets 8,378 40,660 595 81 72 94,845 3,145 32,515 646 121 41 84,929

Trade and other payables (52,821) (150,853) (7,970) (829) (1,446) (897) (47,650) (157,739) (3,215) (3,022) (2,189) (1,143)

Financial liabilities (3,175) (330,061) - (52,950) - - 139 (343,187) - (82,620) - -

Gross balance sheet 
exposure

(35,217) (328,035) (7,220) (51,843) (73) 94,389 (35,213) (359,750) (2,346) (82,061) 137 83,850

Forward FX contracts 6,449 90,495 - 51,800 - (94,700) 7,252 98,232 - 81,392 260 (84,750)

Cross currency interest rate 
swaps (CCRS )

- 258,000 - - - - - 273,829 - - - -

FX options - - - - - - 1,500 16,150 - - - -

Net exposure (28,768) 20,461 (7,220) (43) (73) (311) (26,461) 28,460 (2,346) (669) 397 (900)

FX derivatives hedging 
forecasted trade positions

Forward FX contracts 4,909 13,992 - - 1,377 - 7,016 (6,925) - - 1,598 -

FX options 20,600 - - - - - 12,700 - - - - -

The impact on INR is limited and therefore not included in the table above.

Sensitivity analysis

A 10% strengthening of the euro at 31 December against the currencies listed above would have increased 
(decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, 
in particular interest rates, remain constant. A 10% weakening of the euro against those same currencies would 
have had the equal but opposite effect.

The exchange impact on the net exposure is reflected in profit or loss as shown in the following table. 
The exchange impact on Items that are hedge accounting compliant is reflected in equity.

2018 2017

(in € thousand) USD CAD GBP AUD NZD USD CAD GBP AUD NZD

Equity 1,497 - 1,430 (77) - 3,015 - 1,442 (95) -

Profit or loss (1,625) 421 4 4 17 (2,157) 142 69 (24) 49
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(b) Credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to 
credit risk at the reporting date was:

2018 2017

(in € thousand) Carrying amount

Other non-current assets 15,764 15,219

Current amounts receivable 356,105 367,015

Forward exchange contracts used for hedging 4,173 1,574

CCRS 45,619 38,074

Cash and cash equivalents 386,000 317,361

Total 807,661 739,243

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by geographic region was:
2018 2017

(in € thousand) Carrying amount

Eurozone countries 77,711 90,735

United Kingdom 17,644 16,354

United States 50,616 48,669

Canada 14,227 16,105

New Zealand and Australia 60,247 58,845

Latin America 56,680 61,337

India 25,092 20,665

Other regions 25,428 26,246

Total 327,645 338,955

The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

2018 2017

(in € thousand) Gross Impairment Gross Impairment

Not past due 252,865 211 264,624 688

Past due 0 - 30 days 49,356 99 47,026 136

Past due 31 - 90 days 20,194 524 19,920 631

Past due 91 - 365 days 8,484 2,620 10,093 2,914

Past due more than one year 12,909 12,709 13,641 11,981

Total 343,808 16,163 355,305 16,349
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The movement of impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

(in € thousand) 2018 2017

As at 1 January 16,349 19,558

Change in the consolidation scope (0) 55

Recognised 4,910 3,769

Used (2,994) (4,424)

Reversed (1,816) (1,353)

Transfer to assets held for sales (302) -

Exchange difference 17 (1,256)

Total 16,163 16,349

The Group believes that the unimpaired amounts that are past due by more than 30 days are still collectable, 
based on historical payment behaviour and analysis of customer credit risk.

(c) Commodity risk

At 31 December 2018, the Group had no outstanding commodity hedging contracts.

(d) Interest rate risk

At the reporting date, around 73% of the gross financial debt were at floating rates, whereas around 40% of the 
net financial liabilities (financial assets deducted) were at floating rates. 

Sensitivity to interest rate variations

A change of 25 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (respectively decreased) 
equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular 
foreign currency rates, remain constant.

The analysis was performed on the same basis as in 2017. Due to extremely low interest rates prevailing in markets 
at the reporting date, a variation of 25 basis points only was assumed (25 basis points in 2017). 

2018 2017

Profit or loss Equity Profit or loss Equity

As at 31 December (in  
€ thousand)

25 bp 
increase

25 bp 
decrease

25 bp 
increase

25 bp 
decrease

25 bp 
increase

25 bp 
decrease

25 bp 
increase

25 bp 
decrease

Variable rate instruments (1,153) 1,153 (617) 617

Interest rate derivatives 174 (174) 153 (154) 186 (186) 335 (300)

Cash flow sensitivity (net) (979) 979 153 (154) (431) 431 335 (300)

2018 2017

Profit or loss Equity Profit or loss Equity

As at 31 December (in  
€ thousand)

25 bp 
increase

25 bp 
decrease

25 bp 
increase

25 bp 
decrease

25 bp 
increase

25 bp 
decrease

25 bp 
increase

25 bp 
decrease

Fixed rate instruments 761 (769) 971 (984)

Interest rate derivatives (989) 997 (55) 55 (1,176) 1,188 16 (17)

Fair value sensitivity (net) (228) 228 (55) 55 (205) 204 16 (17)
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(e) Liquidity risk

The following were the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments:

At 31 December 2018

(in € thousand)
Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows 1 year or less 1 to 5 years

More than 5 
years

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Unsecured bank facilities and others (758,719) (784,458) (55,203) (729,255) -

Schuldschein certificates (120,000) (125,444) (1,928) (123,516) -

Secured bank loans (25,721) (26,679) (24,096) (2,584) -

US private placement (243,378) (290,547) (11,547) (226,647) (52,353)

Other loans and borrowings (172) (172) (172) - -

Finance lease liabilities (3,344) (3,344) (604) (1,708) (1,032)

Trade and other payables (468,960) (468,960) (433,387) (35,573) -

Bank overdrafts (12,836) (12,836) (12,836) - -

Derivative financial instruments

Forward exchange derivatives used for hedging 
- outflows

(1,125) (39,242) (39,242) - -

Forward exchange derivatives used for hedging 
- inflows

4,173 41,810 41,810 - -

Interest rate swaps or options used for hedging (4,985) (5,106) (1,972) (3,134) -

CCRS - outflows (2,508) (205,518) (6,350) (166,367) (32,801)

CCRS - inflows 45,619 269,929 12,584 224,741 32,604

(1,591,956) (1,650,567) (532,942) (1,064,042) (53,582)

At 31 December 2017

(in € thousand)
Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows 1 year or less 1 to 5 years

More than 5 
years

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Unsecured bank facilities and others (224,348) (226,893) (54,848) (172,045) -

Schuldschein certificates (120,000) (126,860) (1,788) (125,072) -

Secured bank loans (51,800) (54,102) (43,769) (10,333) -

US private placement (264,027) (320,969) (42,576) (129,953) (148,440)

Finance lease liabilities (3,915) (3,915) (620) (2,195) (1,101)

Trade and other payables (520,945) (520,945) (517,532) (3,413) -

Bank overdrafts (12,975) (12,975) (12,975) - -

Derivative financial instruments

Forward exchange derivatives used for hedging 
- outflows

(6,233) (36,955) (36,955) - -

Forward exchange derivatives used for hedging 
- inflows

1,574 33,796 33,796 - -

Interest rate swaps or options used for hedging (6,655) (6,969) (2,327) (4,342) (300)

CCRS - outflows (3,876) (224,343) (18,041) (93,754) (112,549)

CCRS - inflows 38,074 280,217 23,954 128,047 128,215

(1,175,126) (1,220,914) (673,679) (413,060) (134,175)
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In particular, the following table indicates the periods in which the cash flows associated with derivatives that 
are cash flow hedges, are expected to occur and the fair value of the related instruments:

At 31 December 2018

(in € thousand)
Carrying 
amount

Expected cash 
flows 1 year or less 1 to 5 years

More than 5 
years

Interest rate swaps (4,258) (4,325) (1,638) (2,687) -

FX derivatives - outflows (250) (38,368) (38,368) - -

FX derivatives - inflows 582 38,219 38,219 - -

CCRS - outflows (2,508) (96,157) (3,862) (59,493) (32,801)

CCRS - inflows 17,589 157,487 7,753 117,130 32,604

11,156 56,856 2,104 54,950 (197)

At 31 December 2017

(in € thousand)
Carrying 
amount

Expected cash 
flows 1 year or less 1 to 5 years

More than 5 
years

Interest rate swaps (5,578) (5,772) (1,838) (3,634) (300)

FX derivatives - outflows (297) (31,018) (31,018) - -

FX derivatives - inflows 406 32,627 32,627 - -

CCRS - outflows (3,876) (110,844) (15,731) (10,495) (84,618)

CCRS - inflows 13,406 168,253 19,342 54,734 94,178

4,061 53,246 3,382 40,605 9,259

The following table indicates the periods in which those cash flows are expected to impact profit or loss:

At 31 December 2018

(in € thousand)
Carrying 
amount

Expected cash 
flows

Impact 
already in P&L 1 year or less 1 to 5 years

More than 5 
years

Interest rate swaps (4,258) (4,325) - (1,638) (2,687) -

FX derivatives - outflows (250) (38,368) - (38,368) - -

FX derivatives - inflows 582 38,219 - 38,219 - -

CCRS - outflows (2,508) (96,157) - (3,862) (59,493) (32,801)

CCRS - inflows 17,589 157,487 19,577 7,753 117,130 13,027

11,156 56,856 19,577 2,104 54,950 (19,774)

At 31 December 2017

(in € thousand)
Carrying 
amount

Expected cash 
flows

Impact 
already in P&L 1 year or less 1 to 5 years

More than 5 
years

Interest rate swaps (5,578) (5,772) - (1,838) (3,634) (300)

FX derivatives - outflows (297) (31,018) - (31,018) - -

FX derivatives - inflows 406 32,627 - 32,627 - -

CCRS - outflows (3,876) (110,844) - (15,731) (10,495) (84,618)

CCRS - inflows 13,406 168,253 13,668 19,342 54,734 80,509

4,061 53,246 13,668 3,382 40,605 (4,409)
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(f) Description and fair value of derivatives

The table below provides an overview of the nominal amounts (by maturity) of the derivative financial instruments 
used to hedge the interest rate risk associated to the interest-bearing loans and borrowings (as presented in 
Note 22).

Nominal amount 2018 Nominal amount 2017

(in € thousand) 1 year or less 1 to 5 years
More than 5 

years 1 year or less 1 to 5 years
More than 5 

years

Interest rate swaps 67,818 50,633 - - 98,277 25,000

CCRS 5,178 151,577 31,560 13,029 75,115 109,095

FX derivatives 290,658 - - 359,753 - -

The table below presents the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments as reported in 
the statement of financial position. Also included are the notional amounts of the derivative financial instruments 
per maturity as presented in the statement of financial position.

Fair value Notional amount

Positive Negative < 6 months
6 to 

12 months
1 to 5 
years >  5 years Total

(in € thousand)

Interest rate swaps - - 743 3,515 - 67,818 25,000 - 92,818

FX derivatives 582 - 250 - 29,807 8,244 - - 38,051

CCRS 105 12,025 - 2,508 5,178 - 50,000 31,560 86,738

Derivatives held as cash flow 
hedges

687 12,025 994 6,022 34,985 76,062 75,000 31,560 217,606

CCRS - 18,148 - - - - 60,765 - 60,765

Derivatives held as fair value 
hedges

- 18,148 - - - - 60,765 - 60,765

Interest rate swaps - - - 711 - - 25,082 - 25,082

Derivatives held as net investment 
hedges

- - - 711 - - 25,082 - 25,082

CCRS - 4,877 - - - - 15,731 - 15,731

Derivatives held as fair value and 
net investment hedges

- 4,877 - - - - 15,731 - 15,731

CCRS - 10,463 - - - - 25,082 - 25,082

Derivatives held as cash flow 
hedge and net investment hedges

- 10,463 - - - - 25,082 - 25,082

Interest rate swaps - - - 16 - - 551 - 551

FX derivatives 3,591 - 875 - 248,958 3,650 - - 252,608

Derivatives not under hedge 
accounting

3,591 - 875 16 248,958 3,650 551 - 253,159

Total 4,278 45,514 1,868 6,749 283,942 79,712 202,210 31,560 597,424

Total current and non-current 49,792 8,617

Fair values of derivatives are determined by using the discounted cash-flows valuation method.
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(g) Accounting for derivatives

The Group uses derivative instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks. 
Whenever possible, the Group applies the following types of hedge accounting:

 • Cash flow hedge, for derivative financial instruments with a total notional amount of € 217.6 million (2017: € 227.6 million). 
The fair value adjustment for the effective portion of those derivatives is recognised directly in Other Comprehensive 
Income under hedging reserve.

The evolution in the hedging reserve is as follows:

2018 2017

(in € thousand)
Hedging 

reserve
Cost of hedging 

reserve Hedging reserve
Cost of hedging 

resrve

As at 1 January (6,461) (722) (6,257)

Effective portion of changes in fair value of existing instruments 5,819 1,152 (15,438) (722)

Deferred tax related to hedges (145) (1,257)

Foreign currency translation differences (71) 1 (124)

Scope change (28) -

Recycling to income statement of FX impact on CCRS (5,848) 16,615

As at 31 December (6,734) 431 (6,461) (722)

The retrospective application of the cost of hedging approach had the following effect on the amounts of the 
hedging reserve presented in 2017:

Cash-flow hedging reserve as previously reported:  (7 183) 
Adjustment:      722 
Restated as at 31 December 2017:    (6 461)

The fair value adjustment for the ineffective portion of those derivatives is accounted for as a Finance Income 
or Expense.

 • Fair value hedge, for derivative financial instruments with a total notional amount of € 60.8 million (2017: € 60.8 million). 
The fair value adjustment is recognised as a Finance Income or Expense.  

 • Net investment hedge for derivative financial instruments with a total notional amount of € 25.1 million (2017: 
€ 26 million).  The fair value adjustment for the effective portion of those derivatives is recognised directly in 
Other Comprehensive Income under translation reserve.  The fair value adjustment for the ineffective portion 
of those derivatives is accounted for as a Finance Income or Expense.

 • Different combinations of hedge accounting types for derivative financial instruments with a total notional 
amount of € 40.8 million (2017: € 41.9 million).

The derivative financial instruments which cease to meet the criteria to be eligible for hedge accounting are 
accounted for as derivatives held-for-trading and the changes in fair value of those instruments are accounted 
for in profit or loss. 

In 2018, the net fair value adjustment through Financial Income or Expense was a gain of € 0.4 million (2017: 
gain of € 1.3 million).

Following the issuance of the US private placement, the Group entered into several cross-currency swaps (CCRS) 
with external counterparts in order to partially convert the USD denominated cash flows from the USPP into 
CAD, GBP and EUR, for which hedge accounting has been applied:
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 • An aggregate nominal amount of USD 110.8 million relate to instruments to which fair value hedge accounting 
(or a combination with net investment hedge), is applied, with changes in fair value recorded through profit 
or loss. The hedged item is re measured to fair value with regards to foreign exchange and interest rate risks, 
with changes in fair value also recorded through profit and loss, in order to offset the fair value changes of 
the hedging instrument.

 • An aggregate nominal amount of USD 147.2 million relate to instruments to which Cash Flow hedge accounting 
(or a combination with net investment hedge) is applied, with effective portion of change in fair value recorded 
in equity. The foreign exchange impact is immediately recycled to profit and loss, in order to offset the foreign 
exchange impact of the debt originating from the US private placement.

 • Nominal amounts of CAD 39.1 million and GBP 14.1 million relate to instruments to which net investment hedge 
is applied. The effective portion of change in fair value is recorded into Other Comprehensive Income.

The table here below summarises for those CCRS entered with third parties, their respective fair-values with 
evidence of the foreign exchange (FX) component, interest (Intr.) component and the basis spread component, 
as they arise from the different hedging types being applied.

Notional amount Fair value (€)

(in € thousand) Currency EUR Total Fx impact
Intr. 

Impact

Basis 
spread 
impact

Fair value hedges USD 87,775 60,765 18,148 15,894 2,254

Fair value and net 
investment hedge

USD 23,000 GBP 14,072 15,731 4,877 4,357 521

Cash flow hedges USD 107,225 86,738 9,518 12,086 (2,998) 430

Cash flow and net 
investment hedge

USD 40,000 CAD 39,140 25,082 10,463 9,853 558 52

188,316 43,006 42,190 334 482
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(h) Fair value hierarchy 

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet, 
are as follows: 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

(in € thousand)
Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

level 1 level 2 level 3 level 1 level 2 level 3

Cash and cash equivalent 386,457 386,457 317,361 317,361

Unsecured bank facilities 
and others

(758,719) (758,719) (224,348) (224,348)

Schuldschein certificates (120,000) (121,831) (120,000) (123,482)

Secured bank loans (25,721) (25,721) (51,800) (51,800)

US private placement (243,378) (245,997) (264,027) (278,045)

Other loans and 
borrowings

(172) (172) - -

Finance lease (3,344) (3,344) (3,915) (3,915)

Trade and other payables (468,960) (468,960) (412,663) (412,663)

Bank overdraft (12,836) (12,836) (12,975) (12,975)

Put Option - - - (108,282) - (108,282)

Forward exchange 
derivatives used for 
hedging  - positive value

4,173 4,173 1,574 1,574

Forward exchange 
derivatives used for 
hedging  - negative value

(1,125) (1,125) (6,233) (6,233)

Interest rate swaps or 
options used for hedging

(4,985) (4,985) (6,655) (6,655)

CCRS - outflows (2,508) (2,508) (3,876) (3,876)

CCRS - inflows 45,619 45,619 38,074 38,074

(1,205,498) - (1,209,948) - (857,765) - (766,983) (108,282)

All derivatives are carried at fair value and as per the valuation method being used to determine such fair value, 
the inputs are based on data observable either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). 
As such, the level in the hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised, is level 2.

Non-derivatives assets and liabilities are recognised at amortised cost.

The fair value is assessed using common discounted cash-flow method based on market conditions existing 
at the balance sheet date. Therefore, the fair value of the fixed interest-bearing liabilities is within level 2 of the 
fair value hierarchy.  Floating rate interest-bearing financial liabilities and all trade and other receivables and 
payables have been excluded from the analysis as their carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of 
their fair values. 
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28. Operating leases
(in € thousand) Cost as a lessee

Expensed in profit or loss 39,837

Committed to:

Not later than one year 34,453

Later than one year and not later than 5 years 63,526

Later than 5 years 17,161

Total committed 115,140

Operating leases mainly relate to land and buildings for € 76.7 million.

There are no operating lease contracts that are individually significant.

29. Guarantees, collateral and 
contractual commitments

As at 31 December (in € thousand) 2018 2017

Commitments secured by real guarantees 26,335 52,109

Contractual commitments to acquire assets 30,309 16,313

30. Contingencies
As is common with many manufacturing and distribution businesses, the Aliaxis companies may, in the ordinary 
course of their activities, from time to time be involved in legal and administrative proceedings. In cases where 
the outcome of such proceedings remains unknown, a contingent liability and/or asset may exist.

Some legal actions were filed in the US and Canada against Group companies in North America referring to 
allegedly defective plumbing products. Some of these proceedings contemplated class actions in the US and 
Canada. In March 2011, the Group companies signed a settlement (and blocked funds in a trust account until 
early 2020) and release with the various plaintiffs representing all settlement class members in the US and 
Canada. To be enforceable, this settlement, which does not imply any admission of liability, had to be, and has 
in fact been, finally approved by the Courts in early January 2012.

Despite this settlement, the Group companies in North America are still exposed to residual claims from entities 
that are not part of the defined settlement class or that opted out of the settlement in the US and Canada. 
It is anticipated, however, that this residual potential exposure to liability will be covered by the provisions for 
product liability in the accounts (see Note 25 - Provisions) and dealt with in the ordinary course.

In the first quarter of 2015, a Group company in Costa Rica received a provisional tax assessment from the tax 
authorities relating to the tax year 2009. The total claim including penalties and interest as per the tax notice 
amounts to € 29 million. Despite its arguments being rejected in the administrative proceedings the company 
continues to believe having strong arguments to challenge the decision at the judicial level and consequently 
does not believe that this claim needs to be provided for in the accounts.
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31. Related parties
Key management compensation

The total remuneration costs of the Board of Directors and Global Leadership Team (GLT) during 2018 amounted 
to € 11.1 million (2017 € 11.7 million). For members of the Board of Directors, this predominantly related to directors’ 
fees while for members of the Global Leadership Team this comprised fixed base salaries, variable remuneration, 
termination payments, pension service costs as well as share option grants.

(in € thousand) 2018 2017

Salaries (fixed and variable) 10,510 10,922

Retirement benefits 606 792

Total 11,116 11,714
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32. Aliaxis companies
The most important direct and indirect subsidiaries of Aliaxis S.A. are listed below. An exhaustive list of the Group 
companies with their registered office will be filed at the Belgian National Bank together with the consolidated 
financial statements.

Fully consolidated companies

Company
Financial 

interest % City Country

HOLDING AND SUPPORT COMPANIES

Aliaxis Asia Pte Ltd 100.00 Singapore Singapore

Aliaxis Finance SA 100.00 Brussels Belgium

Aliaxis Latinoamerica Cooperatief U.A. 100.00 Panningen The Netherlands

Aliaxis Luxembourg S.à r.l. 100.00 Luxembourg Luxembourg

Aliaxis Holdings Australia Pty Ltd 100.00 Darling Hurst Australia

Aliaxis Holding Germany GmbH 100.00 Mannheim Germany

Aliaxis Holding Italia Spa 100.00 Bologna Italy

Aliaxis Holdings UK Ltd 100.00 Maidstone - Kent UK

Aliaxis Holdings SA 100.00 Brussels Belgium

Aliaxis Ibérica S.L. 100.00 Alicante Spain

Aliaxis Management Company SCRL 100,00 Brussels Belgium

Aliaxis North America Inc 100.00 Ontario Canada

Aliaxis Group SA 100.00 Brussels Belgium

Aliaxis R&D S.A.S. 100.00 Vernouillet France

Aliaxis Services S.A. 100.00 Vernouillet France

Aliaxis Global Procurement Company S.à r.l. 100.00 Luxembourg Luxembourg

GPS Beteiligungs Gmbh 100.00 Mannheim Germany

GPS GmbH & Co.KG 100.00 Mannheim Germany

GDC Holding Ltd 100.00 Maidstone UK

Glynwed Dublin Corporation 100.00 Dublin Ireland

Glynwed Holding B.V. 100.00 Panningen The Netherlands

Glynwed Inc 100.00 Wilmington US

Glynwed N.V. 100.00 Brussels Belgium

Glynwed Overseas Holdings Ltd 100.00 Maidstone UK

Glynwed Pacific Holdings Pty Ltd 100.00 Adelaide Australia

Glynwed USA Inc 100.00 Wilmington US

GPS Holding Germany GmbH 100.00 Mannheim Germany

IPLA B.V. 100.00 Panningen The Netherlands

Marley European Holdings GmbH 100.00 Wunstorf Germany

Marley Extrusions Ltd 100.00 Maidstone UK

Marley Holdings Pty Ltd 100.00 Nigel South Africa

Marley Trust Holding (Pty) 35.00 Nigel South Africa

New Zealand Investment Holdings Ltd 100.00 Auckland New Zealand

Nicoll Do Brasil Participações Ltda 100.00 São Paulo Brasil

Panningen Finance BV 100.00 Panningen The Netherlands

Société Financière Aliaxis SA 100.00 Brussels Belgium

Société Financière du Héron SA 100.00 Brussels Belgium

Société Financière du Val d'Or SA 100.00 Brussels Belgium

The Marley Company (NZ) Ltd 100.00 Manurewa New Zealand
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Company
Financial 

interest % City Country

OPERATING COMPANIES

Akatherm FIP GmbH 100.00 Mannheim Germany

Akatherm B.V. 100.00 Panningen The Netherlands

Aliaxis Latin American Services SA 100.00 San José Costa Rica

Aliaxis Utilities and Industry AB 100.00 Spaanga Sweden

Aliaxis Utilities and Industry AG 100.00 Wangs Switzerland

Aliaxis Utilities and Industry GmbH   100.00 Vienna Austria

Aliaxis Utilities and Industry Kft 100.00 Biatorbagy Hungary

Aliaxis Utilities & Industry LLC 100.00 Moscow Russia

Aliaxis Utilities & Industry Private Ltd 100.00 Mumbai India

Aliaxis Utilities and Industry S.A.S. 100.00 Mèze France

Ashirvad Pipes Private Ltd 97,00 Bangalore India

Canplas Industries Ltd 100.00 Barrie Canada

Corporacion de Inversiones Dureco SA 100.00 Guatemala Guatemala

DHM Plastics Ltd 100.00 Maidstone UK

Dureco Honduras SA 100.00 Comayaguela Honduras

Dureco de El Salvador SA de CV 100.00 San Salvador El Salvador

Durman Colombia SAS 100.00 Cundinamarca Colombia

Durman Esquivel SA 99.99 San José Costa Rica

Durman Esquivel SA 100.00 Panama Panama

Durman Esquivel SA de CV 100.00 Mexico DF Mexico

Durman Esquivel Guatemala SA 100.00 Guatemala Guatemala

Durman Esquivel Industrial de Nicaragua SA 100.00 Managua Nicaragua

Durman Esquivel Puerto Rico Corp. 100.00 Caguas Puerto Rico

Dux Industries Ltd 100.00 Auckland New Zealand

Dynex Extrusions Ltd 100.00 Auckland New Zealand

Fip Formatura Inezione Polimeri spa 100.00 Casella Italy

Friatec GmbH 100.00 Mannheim Germany

FRIATEC do Brasil Industria de Bombas  Ltda 100.00 Cataguases Brazil

FRIATEC S.A.R.L. 100.00 Nemours France

Girpi S.A.S. 100.00 Harfleur France

Glynwed Benelux BV 100.00 Willemstad The Netherlands

Glynwed Pipe Systems Ltd 100.00 Cannock UK

Aliaxis Singapore Pte Ltd 100.00 Singapore Singapore

GPS Shanghai Co Ltd 100.00 Shanghai China

Hamilton Kent LLC 100.00 Delaware US

Hamilton Kent Inc 100.00 Toronto Canada

Harrington Industrial Plastics LLC 100.00 Chino US

Harrington Industrial Plastics de Mexico de RL De CV 100.00 Querétaro Mexico

Hunter Plastics Ltd 100.00 Maidstone UK

Innoge PE Industries S.A.M. 100.00 Monaco Monaco

IPEX Branding Inc. 100.00 Toronto Canada

IPEX Electrical Inc. 100.00 Toronto Canada

IPEX Inc 100.00 Toronto Canada

IPEX Management Inc./IPEX Gestion Inc. 100.00 Toronto Canada

IPEX Technologies Inc. 100.00 Toronto Canada

IPEX USA LLC 100.00 Wilmington US

IPEX de Mexico SA de CV 100.00 Querétaro Mexico

Jimten S.A. 100.00 Alicante Spain

Marley Deutschland GmbH 100.00 Wunstorf Germany

Marley Magyarorszag ZRT 100.00 Szekszard Hungary
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Company
Financial 

interest % City Country

Marley New Zealand Ltd 100.00 Manurewa New Zealand

Marley Pipe Systems (SA) (Pty) Ltd 99,19 Nigel South Africa

Marley Pipe Systems (Namibia) (Pty) Ltd 100.00 Windhoek Namibia

Material de Aireación S.A. 98.67 Okondo Spain

Multi Fittings Corporation 100.00 Wilmington US

Nicoll SA 100.00 Herstal Belgium

Nicoll S.A. 99.99 Buenos Aires Argentina

Nicoll Ceska Republika 100.00 Vestec Czech Rep.

Nicoll E.P.E. Sarl 100.00 Kifisia Greece

Nicoll Industria Plastica Ltda 100.00 São José dos Pinhais Brasil

Nicoll Nordic A/S 100.00 Koege Denmark

Nicoll Peru S.A. 100.00 Lima Peru

Nicoll  Polska Sp. z o.o. 100.00 Olesnica Poland

Nicoll Uruguay S.A. 100.00 Montevideo Uruguay

Nicoll Vostok 100.00 Moscow Russia

Paling Industries Sdn Bhd 100.00 Petaling Jaya Selangor Malaysia

Perforacion y Conduccion de Aguas SA 100.00 San José Costa Rica

Philmac Pty Ltd 100.00 North Plympton Australia

Raccords et Plastiques Nicoll S.A.S. 100.00 Cholet France

Redi Spa 100.00 Bologna Italy

Rheinhutte Pumps LLC 100.00 Palm Harbor US

RX Plastics Limited 100.00 Ashburton New Zealand

Sanitaertechnik Eisenberg GmbH 100.00 Eisenberg Germany

SCI Frimo 100.00 Darvault France

SCI LAML 100.00 Darvault France

Sociedad Industrial Tuboplast S.A. 100.00 Santiago Chile

Straub Werke AG 100.00 Wangs Switzerland

The Universal Hardware and Plastic Factory Ltd 51.00 Kowloon Hong Kong

VigotecAkatherm  S.A. 50.00 Brussels Belgium

Vinidex Pty Ltd 100.00 New South Wales Australia

Vinilit SA 100.00 Santiago Chile

Wefatherm GmbH 100.00 Wunstorf Germany

Zhongshan Universal Enterprises Ltd 51.00 Zhongshan City China

Vinilit SA 100.00 Santiago Chile

Wefatherm GmbH 100.00 Wunstorf Germany

Zhongshan Universal Enterprises Ltd 51.00 Zhongshan City China

Aliaxis acquired in July 2018 a further 40% stake in Ashirvad Pipes Pvt Ltd in addition to its 60% stake. 

During 2018, Aliaxis Utilities & Industry Sp. z o.o. has been merged into Nicoll Polska Sp. z o.o. and Kunststoffwerk 
HöhnGmbH has been merged into Aliaxis Holding Germany GmbH.
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33. Services provided by the 
statutory auditor

(in € thousand) 2018 2017

Audit:

Audit services

KPMG in Belgium 413 499

Other offices in the KPMG network 2,051 2,099

Audit-related procedures and services

KPMG in Belgium 9 14

Other offices in the KPMG network 43 29

Sub-total 2,516 2,641

Other services:

Tax 312 381

Other services 15 28

Sub-total 327 409

Services provided by the Statutory Auditor 2,843 3,051

34. Subsequent events
On February 22, 2019, Aliaxis announced signing of the divestment of Rheinhütte Pumpen to ITT Inc. (NYSE: ITT). 
This divestment is in line with the company’s strategy to explore new paths for non-core activities. The cash 
consideration is approximately €80.5m. The transaction is expected to close in the second quarter of 2019, and 
is subject to customary closing conditions, including appropriate regulatory approvals.
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Non-Consolidated Accounts, Profit 
Distribution and Statutory Appointments
The annual statutory accounts of Aliaxis S.A. are summarised below.

In accordance with the Belgian Company Code, the annual accounts of Aliaxis S.A., including the Directors’ 
Report and the Auditor’s Report, will be registered at the Belgian National Bank within the required 
legal timeframe.

These documents are also available upon request at: 

Aliaxis S.A. 
Group Finance Department 
Avenue Arnaud Fraiteur, 15/23 
1050 Brussels - Belgium

The Auditor, KPMG Bedrijfsrevisoren/Réviseurs d’Entreprises, has expressed an unqualified opinion on the annual 
statutory accounts of Aliaxis S.A.

Summarised balance sheet after profit appropriation

As at 31 December (in € thousand) 2018 2017

Intangible and tangible assets - -

Financial assets 1,358,665 1,358,665

Non-current loans and borrowings 1,358,665 1,358,665

Current assets 1,273 144

Total assets 1,359,938 1,358,809

Equity and liabilities

Capital 62,666 62,666

Share premium 13,332 13,332

Revaluation reserve 92 92

Reserves 1,048,922 1,048,922

Profit carried forward 180,452 184,310

Capital and reserves 1,305,464 1,309,322

Liabilities 54,474 49,487

Total equity and liabilities 1,359,938 1,358,809
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As at 31 December (in € thousand) 2018 2017

Income from operations - -

Operating expenses (1,712) (1,572)

Operating loss (1,712) (1,572)

Financial result 51,501 85,953

Income taxes (165) -

Profit for the period 49,624 84,381

Profit distribution

Aliaxis’ Board of Directors proposes to pay a net dividend of € 0.410795 per share. The proposed gross dividend 
is € 0.58685 per share, representing 33.7% of the consolidated basic earnings per share of € 1.74. The dividend 
is subject to shareholder approval at the General Shareholders’ Meeting on May 22, 2019. 

The dividend will be paid on 1 July 2019 against the return of coupon No. 16 at the following premises:

 • Banque Degroof Petercam S.A.;
 • BNP Paribas Fortis Banque S.A.;
 • Belfius Banque S.A.;
 • as well as at our registered office.

The profit appropriation would be as follows:

As at 31 December (in € thousand) 2018 2017

Profit brought forward 184,311 148,550

Profit for the period 49,624 84,381

Gross dividend (53,483) (48,621)

Profit carried forward 180,452 184,310

Statutory appointments

Following the decision of Mr. Yves Noiret to step down from his position as a board member, the board, upon 
recommendation of the appointment and remuneration committee, proposes to the shareholders to elect Mr. 
Rajesh Jejurikar as director of Aliaxis SA for a term of office of three years ending at the general meeting of 
shareholders to be held in 2022.
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Glossary
Revenue (Sales)
Amounts invoiced to customers for goods and services provided by the Group, less credits for returns, rebates 
and allowances and discounts for cash payments

EBITDA
EBIT before charging depreciation, amortisation and impairment

Current EBITDA
Current EBIT plus depreciation, amortisation and impairment (other than goodwill impairment)

Current EBIT
Profit from operations before non-recurring items

EBIT
Operating income

Net profit (group share)
Profit of the year attributable to equity holders of the Group

Capital expenditure
Expenditure on the acquisition of property plant and equipment, investment properties and intangible assets

Net financial debt
The aggregate of (I) non-current and current interest-bearing loans and borrowings and (II) bank overdrafts, 
less (III) cash and cash equivalents

Capital employed
The aggregate of (I) intangible assets, (II) property, plant & equipment, (III) investment properties, (IV) inventories 
and (V) amounts receivable, less the aggregate of (a) current provisions, and (b) current amounts payable

Non-cash working capital
The aggregate of (I) inventories and (II) amounts receivable, less the aggregate of (a) current provisions, and 
(b) current amounts payable

Return on capital employed (%)
EBIT / average of capital employed at 1 January and 31 December x 100

Return on equity (group share) (%)
Net profit (group share) / average of equity attributable to equity holders of Aliaxis at 1 January and 31 
December x 100

Effective Income tax rate (%)
Income taxes / profit before income taxes x 100

Pay-out ratio (%)
Gross dividend per share / basic earnings per share x 100
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Key figures
(in € million) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Revenue 3,095.0 3,094.7 2,949.4 3,047 2,694

Current EBITDA 415.1 411.4 358.8 395 317

as % on sales 13.4% 13.3% 12.2% 13.0% 11.8%

Current EBIT 308.5 300.4 243.5 290 226

as % on sales 10.0% 9.7% 8.3% 9.5% 8.4%

Operating income (EBIT) 273.2 273.5 193.5 288 196

as % on sales 8.8% 8.8% 6.6% 9.4% 7.3%

Net profit (Group share) 137.1 143.2 101 160 101

Capital expenditure (incl. leasing) 86.6 110.6 106 147 143

as % of depreciation and amortisation 81% 100% 96% 142% 157%

as % of current EBITDA 21% 27% 30% 37% 45.0%

Total equity 1,258 1,624 1,623 1,573 1,439

Net financial debt 775 357 464 508 626

Return on capital employed 12.8% 12.3% 8.6% 12.7% 9.5%

Return on equity (Group share) 9.8% 9.2% 6.6% 11.1% 7.6%

Number of employees 16,088 15,904 16,087 16,167 16,233
 

(in € per share) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Earnings

Basic 1.74 1.82 1.26 2.00 1.26

Diluted 1.74 1.82 1.26 1.99 1.25

Gross dividend 0.58685 0.5335 0.485 0.44 0.40

Net dividend 0.410795 0.37345 0.3395 0.3212 0.3000

Payout ratio 33.7% 29.3% 38.4% 22.0% 31.9%

Outstanding shares at 31 December 
(net of treasury shares)

78,739,901 78,725,401 78,781,879 80,111,194 80,110,497
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